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INTRODUCTION

ral Histories represent the recollections
O and opinions of the person interviewed,

and not the official position of MORS.
Omissions and errors in fact are corrected when
possible, but every effort is made to present the
interviewee’s own words.

Dr. Andrew G. Loerch was President of
MORS from 2004 to 2005 and was elected
a MORS Fellow of the Society (FS) in 2008.
Dr. Loerch received the MORS Wanner
Award in 2011. He is currently associate
professor of military operations research at
George Mason University (GMU). This in-
terview was conducted on two separate oc-
casions: May 23, 2006 at LMI, McLean,
Virginia; and June 21, 2011 at the Naval
Postgraduate School, Monterey, California.

MORS ORAL HISTORY

Interview with Dr. Andrew G. Loerch
May 23, 2006 and June 21, 2011

Mr. Bill Dunn, FS, and Dr. Bob Sheldon, FS,
Interviewers

Bob Sheldon: We're here at LMI to inter-
view Andy Loerch. First of all, give us your
parents’ names.

Andy Loerch: My parents were George
Loerch—my middle name is George—and
Claire Loerch, formerly Bultmann.

Bob Sheldon: Where were you born and
raised?

Andy Loerch: 1 was born and raised in
Williston Park, New York. Nobody’s ever
heard of it. I always tell people I'm from
Mineola, which everybody has heard of be-
cause it’s a stop on the Long Island Rail-
road. I lived there all the way through
college.

Bob Sheldon: What did your parents do
and how might they have influenced your
career choice and academic choice?

Andy Loerch: My father was a steel-
worker; my mother was a secretary. Nobody
in my family had ever gone to college before.
I think my father really wished he was an en-
gineer so he influenced me to do that and, in
fact, that’'s what I did. I was a mechanical en-
gineer as an undergrad, although I would
have been a lousy one because I really didn’t
have a real intuition for it.

I ended up doing mostly thermody-
namics, heat transfer, combustion, all that
stuff. And it was telling me something; that

I'd rather do something a little more ab-
stract and mathematical than mechanical
design.

Bob Sheldon: Let’s back up. Where did
you go to grade school and high school?

Andy Loerch: I went to grade school at
Cross Street School, which is right across
the street from my house. That was really
convenient. The bell would ring and I
would walk out the door. Then I went to
high school at Mineola High School. I don’t
know if anybody famous went there. Carl
(Rollie) Stichweh was the quarterback for
Army in the early 1960s; he went there.
Then I went to the Polytechnic Institute of
Brooklyn, now known as the Polytechnic
University of New York, as a mechanical en-
gineer undergrad and Reserve Officers
Training Corps (ROTC).

Bob Sheldon: Where did you first pick up
your interest in mathematics or engineer-
ing?

Andy Loerch: In high school. They didn’t
have the number of advanced placement
(AP) courses that they have now. I took
AP calculus in high school and did okay. I
thought about being an optometrist. I
thought that would be cool because when
you go to an optometrist, they don’t hurt
you and you walk out instantly cured. It
seemed like they make pretty good bucks.
But I decided just to become an engineer.

Bob Sheldon: Did you live on campus or
did you commute?

Andy Loerch: 1 commuted from Long
Island right outside of Queens’ border
into Brooklyn and back. I think I took the
train once in four years. So it was a lot of
driving.

When my brother was deciding where
to go to college, he was accepted at Hofstra,
which was a local university. He was also
accepted at the University of Dayton. He
asked me where I thought he ought to go.
I said, “Go away, man. This commuting
stuff stinks.” But I stayed home for 22 years
and when I left, I left—went right into the
Army and that was it.

Bob Sheldon: Were you on an ROTC
scholarship?

Andy Loerch: No, 1 joined ROTC as
a walk-on. A friend of mine from high
school was going to Georgia Tech on an
ROTC scholarship and we had talked about
it. Of course, this was in 1970 when I was
a freshman. They sent you all of this recruit-
ing literature, because it was the fall after
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Kent State and ROTC was not a real popular
thing to do at the time. But this buddy of mine
was doing it and I said, “Well, what the heck.
As a goof, I'll join ROTC.”

My grades were pretty good, better than
practically everyone else in my ROTC class. Ev-
ery year they’d offer me a scholarship and every
year I'd say “no” because, hey, I didn’t want to
be in the Army for four years. I never took it. My
father rolls over in his grave every time I men-
tion that, but still I had no intention of having
a military career.

Bob Sheldon: You liked thermodynamics.
Were there any other mechanical engineering
subjects that excited you?

Andy Loerch: No, there were a few that
didn’t, like mechanical design. That was cer-
tainly not my cup of tea so I did all my electives
in thermo.

Bob Sheldon: How did you decide to go ac-
tive duty in the Army after you turned down
those scholarships?

Andy Loerch: I had stayed home all through
college, and I had originally thought about
going in the Reserves. Vietnam had just ended
in 1973 so that really wasn’t an issue at that
point. But I said, “Gee, I've been home all this
time. A couple of years away would probably
be a good thing.”

I figured I would serve for two years, but
then I got offered a Regular Army commission;
two years, three years, what's the difference? So
I'took it, with the idea thatI'd go in and do three
years and then I'd come back to New York. That
would be it.

Bill Dunn: What branch did they sign you
up for?

Andy Loerch: My first choice was Field Ar-
tillery because when I went to ROTC summer
camp, I thought the coolest thing in the uni-
verse was to be a forward observer. I just
thought that was really great. I also applied
for Corps of Engineers because Brooklyn Poly
was an engineer-specific school and I figured
I'd get that for sure.

Air Defense and Ordnance were my third
and fourth choices because there were four lines
on the form. They gave me Ordnance and I
would like to think it was because I was a me-
chanical engineer, but I know that that’s not re-
ally true.

It was really luck that I was given Ord-
nance. But back then, if you were in a Combat
Service Support branch, you did a two-year de-
tail in a Combat Arms Branch, and my detail
was in Field Artillery. So I did get to go to Artil-
lery School and I did learn to be a forward ob-
server. But then I got assigned to a basic
training unit and did my entire detail in that
unit and never fired a round. That’s the way that
goes.

So then I was a mechanical engineer and
never did that and an artillery officer and never
did that. I was on a roll.

Bob Sheldon: What was your first duty
assignment?

Andy Loerch: Fort Ord, California. It was
right in Monterey. They assigned me to B-5-3,
Bravo Company, Fifth Battalion, Third Basic
Combat Training Brigade to be a training officer
in a Basic Training Company. And boy, the
hours for that were unbelievable. I would show
up really early, about 0415. There were three
people in the company that could open the arms
racks; the First Sergeant, the Company Com-
mander, and me. So who do you suppose is
going to do it and issue the weapons? I would
have to show up to open all the weapons racks
for 250 weapons, issue the weapons, and then
take them back at the end of the day. Typically
I'd work from 0415 until 1900, 2000, 2100 at
night.

The training cycles were seven weeks long,
and the first three weeks the trainees were not
given a day off. T had to work seven days a week.
The rest of the time we didn’t train on Sundays.
So it was a nasty job is what it all boiled down to.

Bill Dunn: So you went to Ordnance Basic
at Aberdeen?

Andy Loerch: No. I went to Artillery Basic
because I was detailed to Artillery. Around
that time the 7th Infantry Division had moved
into Fort Ord. The training base was closed.
They moved me to the 707th Maintenance
Battalion and then I talked them into send-
ing me to the military occupational specialty
(MOS)-producing part of the basic course for
Ordnance.

I ultimately ended up in Aberdeen but it
wasn’t until I had just turned first lieutenant.
There were two parts of Ordnance Basic course.
There was the general part that everybody did
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and then they broke you up into groups with
particular specialties. I was an armament main-
tenance officer to start with.

They sent the missile guys to Huntsville
and they had the tank and automotive guys at
Aberdeen, the armament guys at Aberdeen,
and I guess that was pretty much the breakup.
So I stayed at Aberdeen only for that second
part of the course. It was about three months
long.

Bill Dunn: The Army Materiel Systems
Analysis Activity (AMSAA) and Ballistics Re-
search Laboratory (BRL) and other high-power
analysis agencies were at Aberdeen, but did
you even know about them while you were
there?

Andy Loerch: 1 didn’t even know they were
there. But right before I left California to go to
the course at Aberdeen, a friend of mine from
college, Raul Torres, came to Monterey to study
OR at the Naval Postgraduate School (NPS). He
was a smart guy and he got a fellowship out of
college to go to graduate school. He did one tour
with the 82nd Airborne Division and then they
sent him to NPS while I was at Fort Ord.

He called me up one day and said, “I'm
coming out there. Do you want to share an
apartment and split the rent?” Neither one of
us was married at the time. I said, “Well, sure.
What are you going to do?” He said, “I'm going
to the NPS to study OR.” I said, “What’s that?”
And it sounded cool.

He came out there and right before I went to
Aberdeen, we moved into an apartment in Mon-
terey. OR sounded really interesting when he
described it, and then I went off to Aberdeen.
While I was at Aberdeen, I went down to the
Military Personnel Center (MILPERCEN)—it
is called Human Resources Command now.
It’s had several names over the years.

I went down there and talked to the branch
guy and I said, “I'd like to go to graduate
school.” He said, “Well, sonny,” (I had just
made first lieutenant and I hadn’t commanded
yet) “in order to do that, you have to go to ad-
vanced course. You've got to successfully com-
mand. You probably have to go overseas. We'll
have to talk about this sometime in the future.”
Okay.

I went through the course and I went back
to Fort Ord. There was a company coming open

Military Operations Research, V17 N3 2012

and there were two captains in the battalion
who hadn’t commanded yet. The Battalion
Commander brought the first one in and offered
him the command. The guy didn’t take it and,
in fact, resigned rather than take it.

So he brought the second one in. Same
thing; he resigned rather than take it. The only
officer who outranked me left in the battalion
who hadn’t had a company was this humon-
gous, fat, 300-pound lieutenant who had been
fired from the job that I had at that point. So
he wasn’t an option.

I got back from Aberdeen and my boss at
the time, MAJ Mike Krause, who was a materiel
officer of the Maintenance Battalion, said, ““If the
Battalion Commander offered you A Company,
would you take it?” Well gee, I was still on my
first three-year obligation. I said, “Sure. I have
to be here anyway.” So here I was getting ready
to take command.

I called the assignment officer back up at
MILPERCEN and said, “I'm taking command.
Let’s talk about graduate school.” And the guy
said, “Well sonny, you've got to get some effi-
ciency reports here and make sure you're doing
a good job.” At least I got command early as
a first lieutenant and then ultimately, I did get
to go to graduate school right after that.

I went to graduate school the first time very
early in my career. I had just made captain. I'd
just finished the Ordnance Officers advanced
course at Aberdeen.

Bill Dunn: Sounds like A Company had
a reputation of being a tough company to com-
mand.

Andy Loerch: Actually, it wasn’t at all. The
reason they needed a new Company Com-
mander was they were moving the previous
one from A Company, a Forward Support Com-
pany, which was a fairly small company, to
a Heavy Equipment Maintenance Company—
HEM Company—which was almost as big as
a battalion. It had 400 people, and they just
needed to backfill him in A Company. My com-
pany only had 120 people but it went to the field
a lot. These captains that refused it; they just
chickened out, I guess.

Bob Sheldon: This was before the All-Volunteer
Force kicked in?

Andy Loerch: No. The All-Volunteer Force
had kicked in and it was a bad time. It was
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definitely a bad time. Lot of drugs, lot of other
bad things going on. This was in the 1976-
1977 timeframe.

Bob Sheldon: Did the problems you had to
deal with affect the people in your company?

Andy Loerch: Oh, sure. I think that every-
body had problems at that time. There was
a lot of that, but I was pretty lucky. I had a good
Battalion Commander so if I sent somebody
down for a field grade Article 15, he hammered
them. And I had good noncommissioned offi-
cers (NCOs) and a couple of really good warrant
officers. That made life a lot easier.

The leadership in the company was good
but it seemed like when I first got there, it was
a pretty rough group of soldiers. Eventually
they rotated out and were replaced by very
good soldiers and good mechanics who could
fix anything. They were the kind of kids who
would work on their cars all day on Saturday:.
This is what they wanted to do.

It was always my management theory that
people act the way you treat them, so I tried to
treat them like adults and hoped that they
would act like adults. Then if they didn’t, I'd
punish them severely. It worked out pretty well.
It was a good company and we got really good
at going to the field.

I think a lot of maintenance companies
don’t go to the field a lot and aren’t good at it.
But if you go, you practice and you get good
at field duty. You train pretty hard though. It
was the best job I ever had in my life. I cried
when it was over. I think everybody does, be-
cause at the end of the year and a half or so,
it’s really your company. That was a great job.

Bob Sheldon: So at the four-year point, you
went to the Naval Postgraduate School (NPS)?

Andy Loerch: I went to the advanced course
first. I went back to Aberdeen for nine months
and while I was at it, I got married and then
we came back to NPS in March of 1979.

Bob Sheldon: You met your wife at Aberdeen?

Andy Loerch: Actually, she came to California
on vacation and mutual friends introduced us.
When I got sent back to Aberdeen, she was
working for the United Way. They sent her to
Reading, Pennsylvania, which is only about an
hour and a half drive from Aberdeen—unless
you get stuck behind an Amish individual in
a buggy and then it’s longer than an hour and

a half. It’s one of those coincidence things.
We got married at the end of the advanced
course.

Bob Sheldon: What was your curriculum
like?

Andy Loerch: It was the Army curriculum.
We only had 18 months. The Navy guys got
two years. We didn’t have an experience tour,
but we had pretty much everything else and
we still had to write a thesis. So it was pretty
intense.

Bob Sheldon: Who was your thesis advisor at
NPS?

Andy Loerch: Jim Hartman. He was as good
a teacher and as good an analyst as I've ever
seen. I picked him as my advisor because I
knew he would be available. I also knew
he’d be hard, but I picked him because I knew
he’d be helpful. That’s the way I try to do it
with my students now; to be available and re-
sponsive to them, but to insist that they do
a good job.

There were other guys who were easier, but
they were also harder to find. So ultimately,
your thesis experience was worse. He was great.
He unfortunately passed away from leukemia
in 1986 right before I went to Cornell. So it
was a little tough to get the recommendations
I needed to apply.

Bob Sheldon: Any other professors from NPS
that impressed you?

Andy Loerch: There were several. I've keptin
touch with Jerry Brown over the years. In fact,
for the book we're writing, Jerry Brown and
a couple of the other professors there collabo-
rated with me on the chapter on Capital Budget-
ing. He’s a huge expert on the subject.

Sam Parry was my second reader for my
thesis at NPS, and I've kept in touch with him
over the years. In fact, when it came time to ap-
ply for the doctoral program and I needed rec-
ommendations, Sam and Jerry along with Don
Barr, who's also active in MORS, and who later
ended up as a professor at West Point, helped
me out.

There was a great faculty there. It’s a great
program. I try to make the experience of Army
students that come to our program at George
Mason University (GMU) as much like NPS as
I can.

Bob Sheldon: What was your thesis topic?

Military Operations Research, V17 N3 2012
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Andy Loerch: At the Ordnance Officers ad-
vanced course in 1978-1979, not long after
a couple of the wars that Israel fought, the
maintenance philosophy in Israel was to fix
the tanks as far forward as possible, turn them
around, and get them back on the battlefield.

So that’s what they were teaching in the
course, at the time.  had just commanded a For-
ward Support Maintenance Company, and my
question was “How far forward is forward?”
If you put mechanics on a two-way rifle range
you're going to lose your maintenance capabil-
ity if the conflict lasts too long.

You're going to attrite your maintenance
unit plus the fact that there’s only a certain
amount you can do without the semifixed infra-
structure that you need to do some of those re-
pairs. So my question walking in the door
was, “How far forward is forward?”

Basically what I did was simulated my own
company. I had a lot of functional area knowl-
edge of the subject and that facilitated data
collection, and then I wrote the simulation in
Simscript IL.5. It turned out that probably as
far forward as you’d want to get with third
shop maintenance was about to the battalion
trains. Otherwise, you start to get into artillery
range. You start to get into other places where
you attrite your maintenance forces.

I think it was unusual to have a student
walk in with a thesis topic in mind because
you had to know enough about OR and what
it was used for. Ilearned that from rooming with
my buddy who was going through the NPS OR
program, and I had an idea what you could do
with it. So that was my thesis topic.

Bob Sheldon: Did you sell it to anybody in the
active force?

Andy Loerch: No. We briefed it often. There
are always generals and high-level people
that come through Monterey. They usually
go there to play golf, but then they have to
come listen to the students talk about their re-
search. We had ample opportunity to brief it.
But there really weren’t a lot of takers and
my next assignment was Concepts Analysis
Agency (CAA), now called Center for Army
Analysis. I did bring it there but they weren’t
operating at that level, so I never really got to
sell it. But I thought it was a pretty decent
piece of work.

Military Operations Research, V17 N3 2012

Bill Dunn: 1 think that is somewhat unique
because I know in the past, NPS and other
schools were always out shopping for thesis
topics and they’d come around and hit us up
for potential topic candidates.

Andy Loerch: Yes, absolutely. At that point,
Sam Parry and Ed Kelleher and a few other folks
out there had a very active research program
going on using a model also written in Simscript
called Star. It was a research model and they
had a lot of very interesting innovative parts
of it. They used to grab the Army students and
they’d carve a thesis out of enhancing it. Many
of the Army students at that time did their the-
ses working on pieces of Star.

But I doggedly hung to my problem that I
showed up with. I remember one time General
Starry, who was the commander of Training
and Doctrine Command (TRADOC), brought
with him the Quartermaster General of the Brit-
ish Army to listen to our presentations. He was
particularly interested in logistics topics. I was
really the only one that had a logistics topic
at that point so I'm sure they were glad that I
did it.

Some of the faculty would have preferred
that I take a piece of the Star research, but I guess
I was just a difficult student.

Bob Sheldon: Did working on the combat
simulation help you getajob at CAA or was that
a default assignment?

Andy Loerch: It's a funny thing because my
wife wanted to go to school at Gallaudet College
(now University) in Washington and I was a
fairly junior captain. I hadn’t been overseas yet
so I wanted to manipulate the system to get to
Washington. I filled out a dream sheet that said,
“I volunteer for Europe as my first choice. My
second choice is Washington.” I knew at that
point, there were only two 49 slots in Europe.
One of them had just been filled because my
buddy was assigned to Heidelberg.

So I knew that there was a slim chance of
actually going to Europe, and indeed the assign-
ment officer called me up at home and said,
“Sorry. I tried but I couldn’t find you a job in
Europe, but I have three opportunities in your
second choice in Washington.”

One of them was the Program Analysis and
Evaluation Directorate, Army PA&E. I had no
idea what they did there, but it sounded cool.
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It was in the Office of the Chief of Staff of the
Army. One of the others was CAA, Concepts
Analysis Agency at the time. The idea of work-
ing in the office of the Chief of Staff sounded
good so I called them and they said, “Well
sonny, when did you finish Leavenworth?” I
said, “I just finished the advanced course.”
“Call us in a few years after you get to Leaven-
worth because that’s all we take here.” He
meant that you had to be a graduate of Com-
mand and General Staff College (CGSC) to get
an assignment there.

I called up CAA and found out that they did
all kinds of technical things and I said, “That
sounds even better.” I accepted the job with
CAA.

When I got to CAA, they were working
on the Combat Sample Generator (COSAGE),
which they still use. Basically it was a feeder
model to the theater campaign model. Of course
the model has been modified and enhanced
continuously over the years. It was written in
Simscript. So here I was; I had done my simula-
tion, my thesis, in Simscript and I walked in
there and they said, “You're going to work on
this.” So that’s what I did for the first three years
I'was in CAA, working on COSAGE, both in de-
velopment and using it for studies for the first
time.

Bob Sheldon: Did you go to the Staff College
as a resident?

Andy Loerch: I went to the Armed Forces Staff
College (AFSC) as a resident after I finished my
doctoral program. My follow-on assignment
from AFSC was an Army Educational Review
Board (AERB) slot at CAA for three years.

Bill Dunn: That was pretty late in your career.

Andy Loerch: Right. I was early in my career
to go to the advanced course and late to go to
Staff College. I got deferred because I got picked
up for CGSC at the same time that I got picked
up for graduate school the second time.

Bob Sheldon: Who were the notable peo-
ple you worked with at CAA your first time
around?

Andy Loerch: There were some interesting
people at CAA, some of whom are still there.
My boss was Colonel Richard Fickett. He ran
Requirements Directorate; there isn’t a Require-
ments Directorate anymore. He was a very hard
guy, but he got the studies done. When first I

got there, a two-star general by the name of
Atkinson was in charge of CAA and he was ac-
tually an intelligence guy. He didn’t really influ-
ence things a great deal.

There was a civilian technical advisor who
did a lot of the interface with the Pentagon. I
worked with Jim Kramer. I think he still works
for Unisys; great programmer. The two of us,
two captains, owned the COSAGE model.

There was no configuration control. If we
had an improvement to make, we would make
it. Jim ran the direct fire side; I ran the indirect
fire side. We had that model running and knew
it, every line of code in it.

Bob Sheldon: You documented all this, too?

Andy Loerch: Actually, we did. If you look
back at the first study that I participated in at
CAA, a lot of documentation was done. I was
the editor of it. It was the last developmental ef-
fort for the new methodology for determining
wartime requirements. It was called WARRAMP
Phase 5. They were very big on documentation of
studies back then, of all kinds of studies.

Typically, unlike today, the studies were
long term. There were a lot of people involved
and they would be documented in great detail.
So indeed, we did document it. As far as docu-
menting the model, there was actually pretty
decent documentation and, although we didn’t
document it line by line, we did document it at
least routine by routine and described the in-
puts and all this other stuff. It was pretty well
documented and I think it really goes to the
change in the whole way that we do business
as a community. Back then we spent a lot of time
on documentation, both models and of studies
but we don’t do that anymore.

Bill Dunn: At that time, CAA was in
Bethesda on Woodmont Avenue. I always
thought that was an interesting building, with
an entrance level on the seventh floor.

Andy Loerch: Seventh floor, right. You came
in and you parked in a parking garage next to
CAA. It was like lemmings—at 9:00, they
started to enforce the meters in the parking ga-
rage. At 9:00 everybody at CAA went out to feed
the meter unless you had a carpool pass. Every-
body would go down there and do that and
come back up. It was a cultural thing. Later I
found a place about half a mile away where
you could park on the street because I always
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got to work really early. Then you would save
the 80 cents to park there. If you add it up over
a whole year you saved some money.

They had these extraordinarily slow eleva-
tors that would take you to the seventh floor
where the guard’s desk was, and that’s where
you would sign in. CAA expanded during the
time I was there and there were actually two
buildings hooked together. One of those went
all the way down to the third floor, but you
couldn’t get to the third floor except through
the seventh floor of the other building. It went
all the way up to the ninth floor where the head-
quarters was.

I was there when Dave Hardison came.
They had a two-star general commanding the
place. Then Hardison came so they had a Senior
Executive Service (SES) in charge of the place
with a one-star deputy, Brigadier General Hugh
J. Quinn and he was a great guy. He was a runner
and I was a runner. All the runners would con-
gregate in the one bathroom that had two
showers in it. Everybody got to be real close
friends.

That’s how Quinn would find out what was
going on. He’d talk to the runners in the bath-
room. CAA was definitely a different kind of
place. It was half civilian and half military.
When I got there, they had about 150 military
and 150 civilians; the whole agency was about
300 people.

They had flextime and compressed time, so
you could work 10 hours a day for nine days
and you got the tenth day off. The way it really
turned out was you worked 10 hours a day ev-
ery day, except for the people that weren’t doing
anything. They were the ones who were getting
the days off, but that’s the way that always
works. After Hardison got there, he looked
around and he called enough people and was
told, “This is their compressed day,” that he
got aggravated about it and got rid of all that
and made everybody come to work every day.

I don’t think I got more than two com-
pressed days off ever in the whole time I was
there the first three years. But it was really dif-
ferent from being in a troop assignment.

Bill Dunn: When you had to go down to the
Pentagon, how would you go?

Andy Loerch: 1 would drive because at that
time—this was from 1980 to 1983—there was
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no Metro that went up to Bethesda. The real
pros at CAA knew the super secret back way
through Georgetown rather than take the Belt-
way all the way around and George Washington
Parkway. You would cut through the neighbor-
hoods but you really had to know the way.
Somebody had to show you how to get to the
Pentagon the first time.

We had to go to the Pentagon fairly often.
In briefings you had to wear the Class A uniform
at that time. That’s where I met E. B. Vandiver
for the first time. He was the Technical Advi-
sor to the Deputy Chief of Staff for Opera-
tions and Plans (DCSOPS), and he used to sit
in on a lot of the briefouts of studies. He would
ask a lot of questions and he was a notable
individual.

Another guy that always used to come to
the briefings of the studies and used to repre-
sent TRADOC was Seymour Goldberg; he’s
very well known in the Army analytic commu-
nity. He was the guy that TRADOC Analysis
Center (TRAC) would send all over the place
to any study that affected anything that they
did and he would also ask hard questions. We
ultimately sold him on the idea of COSAGE
and he really liked it. So he became an ally ulti-
mately, but the first few times we briefed him
were pretty rough.

Bob Sheldon: Toward the end of your CAA
tour, did you actively apply for graduate
school?

Andy Loerch: No. In fact I had seriously con-
sidered getting out. My wife was finishing up
graduate school and she wanted to stay. I had
a four-year obligation and a three-year tour
and she wanted to stay at least long enough to
be able to work once she was finished.

So I put in a request for an extension, which
for just about everybody at CAA was a rubber
stamp. The Chief of Staff of CAA, COL Chuck
Curry, came down a little while later and he
said, “I don’t know how this happened but
here it is.”” The response was rather terse.
“Paragraph 1. Disapproved. Paragraph 2.
You'll be in Germany in September.”

They had me. I was still obligated so I
couldn’t get out, and as soon as I set foot in
Germany I owed 5/6 of another three-year
tour. So that’s where I ended up. During that
time—this was about nine months from the
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day I was to accomplish permanent change of sta-
tion (PCS)—I gave this four-hour briefing on data
needs in preparation for a big requirement study.
People used to come from all over the place, from
all the TRADOC Branch Schools, because they're
all interested in how much ammunition and
other equipment their units would get.

We had a representative from United States
Army Europe (USAREUR), a colonel who came
from USAREUR headquarters, from Deputy
Chief of Staff for Logistics (DCSLOG). Some-
body said, “You ought to go talk to that guy
and see if you can get a job.” I did and he said,
“Can you program a computer?” I said, ““Yes.
That’s what I do all day.”

They had this special project going on in
USAREUR at the time. They were redoing the
logistics management system and he said, “T'll
get you a job doing that.” In fact, they went as
far as to change the Table of Distribution and Al-
lowances (TDA) from a quartermaster slot (Spe-
cialty Code [SC] 92), to an ordnance slot (SC 91),
so that I could be in it. I said, “Okay.” Periodi-
cally I'd call USAREUR DCSLOG and say,
“How’s it going?” “Oh, fine.”

Finally I called and it was only a couple
months from when I was due to arrive there,
and they said, “It fell through.” I said, “Where
am | going?” He said, “I don’t know. You're
going to have to call 1st Personnel Support
Command (PERSCOM) and ask them.” I called
PERSCOM and he said, “You're going to 21st
Support Command, and ultimately to the 60th
Ordnance Group,” which was an ammunition
unit. I said, “What? I'm a card-carrying mainte-
nance officer.” I was getting to be further along
as a captain now. I would have liked to be a ma-
teriel officer at a maintenance battalion or some-
thing like that.

And I had every intention of doing the dual
track, alternating between SCs 49 and 91; and
here they send me to this awful job to be the
maintenance officer of the 60th Ordnance Group.
Most of their equipment was commercial and
I was thinking, “This is awful. This is the worst
thing that could possibly happen.” But it turns
out it was in the exact same place—it’s in
Zweibriicken—exactly where 200th Theatre
Army Maintenance Management Command
(TAMMOC) is, where USAREUR DCSLOG is
doing this logistics software project.

And I'm saying, “Right church, wrong pew.
I'll get there and they will just send me to the
place Iwanted to go.” No. I was in the 60th Ord-
nance Group and the first seven or eight months
I was there, I was a maintenance officer. This
was a weak job and I was thinking, “My career
is over.” But then my boss, who was the S4
(Logistics), rotated out and they said, “You're
going to be the S4.”” This wasn’t so bad.

It was a brigade-level principal staff job,
plus the fact that it wasn’t a terribly stressful
job. The ammunition business was kind of bor-
ing. We had $4 billion worth of ammunition in
the ground, and sometimes we put in a little
new ammunition, and sometimes we took some
of the old ammunition out. Sometimes we
moved it from one place to another, and some-
times we counted it. That’s pretty much it.

But I didn’t have anything to do with that. I
was 54 and was in charge of maintenance, sup-
ply, and food service for the group. I never went
to the field—our General Defense Plan (GDP)
was a cave in Pirmasens and it wasn't like being
in a division in Europe back in the 1980s. Those
guys were in the field all the time. I never expe-
rienced that, but I did get to travel a lot and had
a really good time.

A couple of interesting things happened
there. Arguably one of the best pieces of analy-
sis I ever did had to do with containerization of
ammunition. LTG Bruin was the commander of
21st Support Command and he had just come
from Military Traffic Management Command
(MTMC) where they’d built this huge container
facility. As a result, he was pushing containeri-
zation of ammunition. He wanted to make use
of this facility.

The Army’s machinery to move contain-
ers around was the 50 thousand pound Rough
Terrain Container Handler (RTCH). It looked
like a giant forklift. The Germans wouldn’t let
us use it at the railway stations because it tore
up the ground, it was so huge. After all, it
was picking up a 20-foot container full of am-
munition. So you are talking about a lot of
weight there.

We had to buy—and it was part of my re-
sponsibility to do this—these commercial pieces
of equipment called side loaders that would
pull up alongside a rail car, pick the container
up, either carry it some place, put it onto another
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conveyance, or put it on the ground. We had to
buy a bunch of these loaders.

And the question was asked, “How many
containers can we move if we buy this many
of these loaders?” My boss, the 54, was a heli-
copter pilot. He could barely add a column of
numbers, and he came up the stairs and said,
“You've got to help me.” I said, “It's an OR
problem.” NPS let us keep our TI—59 program-
mable calculators. There were no computers.
This was in 1983-1984—the Cold War era.

It turned out that my boss had done his
CGSC nonresident project on containerization.
He had all the data. He had the whole descrip-
tion of the system. It was easy and it all boiled
down to a few equations and a few unknowns.
So I built this model on my calculator, and I
looked at it parametrically because I had more
unknowns than equations.

I built this matrix and said under these cir-
cumstances, this is how many we could move.
Ultimately, if everything went perfectly we
could move a thousand containers a day or so,
which was the goal. I showed it to my boss
and he said, “Wow, that’s great.” I put together
a briefing and he left and went on leave to Spain.
He wanted to get away. I briefed the Group
Commander after I put together an analytical
type briefing like the ones I had done for three
years at CAA.

I knew what an analytic briefing was sup-
posed to look like so that’s what I built. It
had the purpose and problem statement, as-
sumptions and limitations, methodology, re-
sults, and then some kind of conclusion. That’s
what I did and I wrote it on butcher paper be-
cause that’s the way the Commanding General
liked to see it. We didn’t do PowerPoint back
then.

I'll never forget this. I was standing there
with the Group Commander, Colonel Brailsford,
who was later the three-star deputy at Army
Materiel Command (AMC), briefing him on
this. He got to assumptions and limitations.
Obviously in order to do this, you had to
make a whole bunch of assumptions—things
like the Bundesbahn (German railroad) could
not be interdicted. It was assumed that they
would find some way around whatever prob-
lem they encountered, a huge assumption in
that day and age.
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There was a whole page of assumptions. He
looked at that and said “We’re not going to
show this.” I was shocked because it’s unethical
to not show that page. “Oh, no.” He briefed it.
The briefing went great, and I wish I had it
now because I would use that as a case study
in my class. It was a very nice military OR prob-
lem. Of course what happened then was that I
got calls from the USAREUR Operations Re-
search Systems Analysis (ORSA) Cell. “You've
got to come here.” I didn’t want that because I
wanted to go back to a 49 assignment when I
got back to the States and I wanted to stay on
the operational side while I was in Europe. So
I warded them off my entire three years and I
never worked with them.

Bill Dunn: 1 was in the USAREUR ORSA
Cell about that same time working for LTC
Jim Malley in 1983-1984. Also at that time, Gen-
eral Otis was Commander-in-Chief (CINC)
USAREUR. He’s a good analyst as well. Did
you ever get a chance to interface with him?

Andy Loerch: I met him but never got to talk
about analysis, and of course I wasn’t doing any,
except for that one occasion. I guess you always
are doing analysis, once you're an analyst. But
that was the only explicit piece of analysis that
I did in the whole three years.

Bob Sheldon: Living in Germany, did you
study some military history?

Andy Loerch: No. I was never hugely inter-
ested in that. E. B. Vandiver at CAA used to
have this huge military history program and
still does. We used to go on trips and look at
Civil War battlefields, do terrain walks. The
guy that they had running the military history
program at CAA was Mike Krause. He was a re-
tired Army colonel by that time, and he was my
boss that I spoke of earlier at Fort Ord. It's
a small world.

I did learn to speak German pretty well. My
wife and I both worked pretty hard at that. And
we did travel around a lot. But I was never
much into military history.

Bob Sheldon: Coming to the end of your tour
there, were you looking for a 49 job?

Andy Loerch: Yes. I was hoping. I figured I'd
either end up back at CAA or at TRAC and that
was on my dream sheet. There was always the
possibility of getting out again. But the month
before the end of my obligation from the PCS,
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I got a letter in the mail. It said, “Congratula-
tions. You've been selected for fully funded
graduate school.”

I said, “Isn’t that weird? How did they fail
to notice that (a) I've already been to fully
funded graduate school and (b) I didn’t ask
for this?”” The letter came from ordnance
branch. Then I read on and said, “Oh, it’s for
a PhD. That’s hard. I don’t know if I really want
to do that.” I was concerned about it because I
had seen some pretty ugly things that went on
with PhD students at NPS.

Also, it wasn’t considered career enhancing
at that time. You're going to be out of the net
for three years. I talked to my wife about it.
Attempting to get a PhD was always something
I really wanted to do, but I thought I'd end up
doing it after I retired. So I called up branch
and said, “What’s this?” And he said, “Yes,
we’ve got a slot and you were coming out at
the right time and you were qualified so it’s
yours if you want it.”

I said, “Okay.” He said, “Then apply to
three schools. We'll pick the one you will go to.
Take the Graduate Record Examination (GRE).”
I'rushed off and did that. My wife was working
at the education center on Zweibriicken Air
Base across town. She made a list of about
a dozen places that had PhD programs in OR,
Cornell not being one of them at that point.

I'had this big office full of people with a cou-
ple of secretaries, and we mailed off a dozen let-
ters to all these schools and requested catalogs.
When they came back, I looked to see where
their faculty had gone to school, and there
was always somebody from Cornell on every
faculty in OR. So I said, “Wow, that'd be great
because my mother still lived in New York.
My in-laws lived in Pittsburgh. The Yankees
were on television in Ithaca. That’s the perfect
place.”

So I applied to Cornell. I also applied to
Case Western and NPS—at least I thought I
did. I sent a letter to Jim Hartman saying, “This
is going on. I need some recommendations, etc.”
I never heard back. It turned out he had leuke-
mia. Finally I heard from Sam Parry and he
and Jerry Brown ran the process for me and
did all that administrative work to get me ap-
proved by the department to come back and
get a PhD.

They called the administration at NPS and
said, “He’s okay.” And the NPS administration
said, “Who?” It turned out the Army has to ap-
ply to NPS. You can’t do it yourself, and they
failed to do it even though I told them that
was what I wanted to do. So somebody from
the administration at NPS called up PERSCOM
and said, “What's the deal? Are you going to ap-
ply this guy or not?” Apparently he was very
abrasive about it and they said, “No.”

So that took care of NPS. I had applied to
Case Western. I knew how long it took for a letter
to get from Germany back to the States and I fig-
ured it must have been 30 seconds after they got
that letter that they accepted me. You worry
about that—it was too easy.

At Cornell, they didnt accept me right
away, and they made me wait. Finally I called
and they said, “You're accepted.” So the Army
said, “Yes, you're going to Cornell,” after they
got that call from NPS. That’s how I ended up
at Cornell. And that was a shock because I
showed up there and I was the stupidest guy
in the place. There were nine people in my class
and, man, they were smart. It turned out 180
people had applied and nine were accepted. I
never asked the question, “If Uncle wasn’t pay-
ing my freight here, would I have been ac-
cepted?” You don’t ask questions you don't
want to hear the answer to. And I found Cornell
very difficult.

Bill Dunn: Were you the only military?

Andy Loerch: At that time I was. But there
had been one right before me. In fact, at the
end of my first year, I met this guy at the pool
at the YMCA and we swam in adjacent lanes.
Then I went to see my advisor and the pool
guy turned out to be Bob Sheldon. He was
back to participate in the graduation cere-
mony because he had finished the year before
I got there.

I spent the day with Bob Sheldon and we
walked around campus. He told me who was
good to have on your committee and totally
squared away my act. So a week later I had
my committee all set up, pretty much based
on the recommendations he made.

Of course, we had the same advisor. It
was Jack Muckstadt. Jack was a retired Air
Force colonel although he did most of his time
in the Reserves. Narahari Prabhu, the famous
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queueing theorist, was on my committee. After
that things got better.

I'still had some difficulties. The second year
in the OR PhD program, you take the qualifying
exam in January, and then they have four op-
tions based on your performance on the exam.
These options were “You pass,” “We’d like
you to come back and do an oral qualifying
exam,” “We’d like you to write a master’s the-
sis,” or “We’d like you to go away.” I got the sec-
ond option.

So I had to go back three months later and
do an oral qualifying exam. Then I had to do
the admission to candidacy exam, also known
as the A exam, by August because I only had
a year left. You had to have a year in residence
after passing this exam. I did the qualifying
exam, oral qualifying exam, and an A exam in
rapid succession. That was a very difficult year,
but once I got to the dissertation part, it was
okay. But to do a PhD at Cornell in three years
is a significant emotional event.

Bob Sheldon: What was your thesis topic and
how did you pick it?

Andy Loerch: 1 talked to Muckstadt and he
said, “Let’s go talk to Robin Roundy.” Robin
Roundy won the Lanchester prize the following
year—very bright guy. I walked into his office
and he said, “I've got this problem.” Basically,
it was a factory scheduling problem—factory
scheduling and due date prediction for a cycli-
cally scheduled factory, meaning each of the
machines in the factory had a sequence of oper-
ations that they did and they repeated that se-
quence over and over.

So between the sequence of operations on
the machine and the bill of materials, you could
build a network and do a network optimization
on the schedule. If an order came in for a prod-
uct, you could then go back through the network,
and find the longest path through the network,
to see if you could actually meet the due date
that they asked for. The crux of the thesis was
“How do you add resources to the system to
shrink the time if you can’t meet the due date
under normal circumstances? How can you
shrink the time by adding additional resources
such as overtime or subcontracting to meet the
due date in an optimal way?”

It turned out to be a big optimization prob-
lem, and if you took the dual of it and then
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decomposed it, you could actually solve it.
Probably now you could solve it straight up
without doing all those manipulations. But back
then it was a big deal to do it that way.

So I got my thesis topic from Robin and I
offered to put him on my committee but he
said, “No, that’s okay. You don’t have to do
that.” But he was the one I'd always go to for
help. Interesting that following year, he won
the Lanchester prize and I bumped into him
in the hall and congratulated him. He wasn’t
much older than I was. He’d just gotten out
of Stanford.

I'said, “Robin, do you know who Lanchester
is?” And he said, “No.” I said, “Let me tell you
since you're winning the prize.” It shows you
that they didn’t do much military OR at Cornell.
I didn’t know that, and being in Europe when I
applied made it harder to really check things
out. There was no Internet at the time—none to
speak of.

So I learned a heck of a lot about factories
and manufacturing, inventory, and other indus-
trial applications. But the beauty of it was when
I came back from there, following a stop at Staff
College; I ended up back at CAA. I had pretty
good experience doing mathematical optimiza-
tion at that point.

Bob Sheldon: Your Staff College experience,
anything notable there?

Andy Loerch: I went as a geographic bache-
lor; my family stayed in Ithaca. I really do enjoy
playing softball and I got to be a pretty decent
volleyball player also at what sometimes is
called the Armed Forces Sports College. It’s
now called the Joint Forces Staff College.

Mine was the last class where you actually
got credit for CGSC. After that it became a fol-
low-on to Service Staff College. So that was the
last Military Education Level 4 (MEL4) granting
class. I got into it after a big manipulation by the
folks at PERSCOM. I was coming up on the lieu-
tenant colonel board and I hadn’t been to Staff
College yet because I was deferred for three
years to go to graduate school. You don’t get
promoted to lieutenant colonel in the Army
without going to Staff College.

They manipulated the system and got me
down there and the course ran from January
to June, not as long as CGSC, which was nine
months. It was certainly a good introduction
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to joint operations and joint planning. It was
a great course and I met a lot of people. I didn’t
really know many people from other services
before that.

It was funny; they did this survey in the be-
ginning about your impressions of the other ser-
vices, and the impressions were all over the
place. Marines are this and Navy guys are this
and back and forth on the survey. At the end
of the program, they ask you the same ques-
tions, because everything goes to the middle at
that point and you realize that everybody’s
pretty much the same. It was a great experience.
I really enjoyed it.

Bob Sheldon: Did you have your follow-on
assignment already lined up?

Andy Loerch: No. What was required at the
time was that 51% of the people that went to
Armed Forces Staff College had to go to a joint as-
signment. It was funny because they had a huge
guest speaker program. All the Commanders-in-
Chief (CINCs) at the time, now called Combatant
Command (COCOM) commanders, every single
one of them came and spoke. For example, Gen-
eral Schwarzkopf came, and this was right before
Desert Storm.

Schwarzkopf gave this presentation. Of
course, he’s soliciting for people to come to work
at United States Central Command (CENTCOM)
and he shows a picture of the Pentagon parking
lot at 1700 packed with cars. Then he shows
a picture of another parking lot and says,
“Here’s CENTCOM at 1700.” There was one
car there. Several of my classmates ended up go-
ing to CENTCOM.

But the fact of the matter is, | had a require-
ment to go to an Army Education Requirements
Board (AERB) slot, a payback tour for the PhD,
and there were no joint PhD positions then. I
ended up going back to CAA for a second tour.
Inever did get to the Joint Staff although later on
I did a bunch of joint studies; I represented the
Army in joint studies. So the course was useful
in the long run.

Bill Dunn: The first time you were at CAA,
you were a captain, which was probably pretty
unusual as well.

Andy Loerch: But there were no captain slots
at CAA, so I was in a major slot.

Bill Dunn: And the second time you came
back, you were a major.

Andy Loerch: I was a major and I got pro-
moted to lieutenant colonel and my second
tour—I got two extensions on it—was five years
long. I was a captain in my first tour, and I was
a major and then a lieutenant colonel returning
the second tour. In the second tour I did mostly
optimization. I did the Value Added study
there.

Bob Sheldon: What division did you work in
your second time?

Andy Loerch: The Resources Division and
we established the optimization capability that
CAA still has. They didn’t really have large-
scale optimization software before that time.

Bob Sheldon: What kind of optimization
problems were you working on?

Andy Loerch: We were working mostly
on capital budgeting problems. The Value
Added studies were huge. About a dozen an-
alysts worked on them for about a year. It was
the capital budgeting problem for the Army,
meaning that there were decisions to be made
regarding which candidate procurement pro-
grams would be funded, which would be ter-
minated, and for the ones that were funded,
what quantities should be procured in what
years. We would look at the top 40 or 50 pro-
curement programs and, given some assump-
tions about what amount of money would be
available over the next 15 years, optimize the
program given that you couldn’t buy every-
thing. The hard part—the interesting part of
it from a technical standpoint—was that the
variable costs for big procurement programs
were nonlinear.

There was a learning curve associated with
those costs. I got there just as they were finish-
ing the pilot study, and the optimization that
they wrote which was very simple didn’t have
any of the nonlinear costs in it. The pilot study
was criticized significantly for not incorporat-
ing nonlinear costs very well. That was a diffi-
cult problem.

Bob Sheldon: So it was nonlinear in the con-
straints?

Andy Loerch: Yes, it was nonlinear in the
budget constraints. We had a budget constraint
for each of the 15 years in the planning horizon.
So basically, we did a piecewise linear ap-
proximation of the curves, which made it a
much bigger problem. It was a mixed integer
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programming problem, and this approach added
many more binary integer variables to it.

Bob Sheldon: About how many variables and
constraints did you have?

Andy Loerch: 1 think it was about a thousand
binary variables. There were other continuous
variables. We formulated it and actually got
it working, and we had a small test problem
which we used to develop the model. This small
problem took 45 minutes to solve on an IBM
Unix box with IBM Optimization Software Li-
brary (OSL). It was quite state-of-the-art at that
time. We were concerned that the full problem
would either take days to solve or not solve at
all. It was an order of magnitude larger in the
number of integer variables.

Then we went to an OSL training course
down at Georgia Tech and they talked about
some things you could do with integer pro-
gramming to make it go faster. In fact the soft-
ware that we were using had a preprocessor
that would find some of these things in your
formulation, and I was sitting there thinking,
““Whoa, we can do some of this.”

So we went back and we tried the pre-
processor and didn’t find anything that would
help. But we thought about it and wrote in
a lot of explicit constraints directly. We basically
implemented some of the suggestions that they
made in the course. As I said, it was taking
45 minutes to solve the baby problem. We put
the whole problem in there and solved in two
minutes. All that they teach about clique con-
straints and lifted covers really works.

It all has to do with the relationships be-
tween the binary variables. For instance, if it is
a case that when one binary variable is zero that
several others have to be zero, you write con-
straints in directly and explicitly that reflect
that requirement; it makes the branches in the
branch and bound method much more power-
ful. Then you branch on those variables that
control the others. It makes the algorithm a lot
faster.

We got a couple of papers published de-
scribing this work, and having the optimization
part working enabled research on the overall
capital budgeting methodology, the Value Added
methodology. It's always cool to get papers pub-
lished given that I was thinking about trying
to get an academic job after I retired. Having
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articles published is a very important criterion
in getting one of those jobs.

Fortunately, Mr. Vandiver was the director
of CAA by the time I got back for my second
tour and he was very supportive of that, and,
of course, of going to the MORS Symposia and
giving presentations. I did a lot of that as well.

Bill Dunn: What other folks did you work
with at CAA your second time around?

Andy Loerch: Iworked very closely with Bob
Koury. There was a really great group of people
that coincidentally all lived in the same neigh-
borhood. We had a carpool together. One guy
was Bob Clayton, who now works for Booz
Allen Hamilton and still comes to MORS now
and then. He did the decision analysis compo-
nent of the study.

We had Captain Bill Mann, who had gone to
the Air Force Institute of Technology (AFIT) and
who was really good at response surface meth-
odologies. They do a lot of that at AFIT and he
built the models to extract the information from
all the combat simulation runs in the design of
experiments we did to measure the marginal
force effectiveness difference that you get by in-
cluding a new procurement program into the
force. Bill got out of the Army and is now the
vice president of a bank.

Linda Coblentz is still an analyst at CAA.
She’s been one quite a while and we worked
very closely building the optimization model.
She’s actually as intuitive an optimizer as I've
ever seen. She is an extraordinarily smart woman.
We worked very closely together for a long time.
She still does that sort of thing although I be-
lieve that she’s temporarily working in the Pen-
tagon right now. CAA rotates analysts through
the supported staff sections in the Pentagon be-
cause it gives them a better appreciation of the
problems and it more closely connects CAA to
the decision-making process. CAA has been
doing that for quite a while. And of course all
the division chiefs, Frank Mackey and John
Elliott, who is still there as a division chief.

Bob Sheldon: Who was your boss?

Andy Loerch: Steve Seigel was the Resource
Division Chief at the time and Bob Koury was
the Study Director. We all worked for Colonel
John Harrington. He was a great boss. I did a
lot of the technical work, particularly the opti-
mization of that study. It was a big study and,
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in fact, it is still being done. It's a repetitive
study they did every couple of years to support
the Army Program Objective Memorandum
(POM) submission. Apparently they don’t do
it anymore.

The second iteration of the Value Added
study was the first time that it was used to sup-
port decision making for procurement. It was
abig deal. It was an interesting study to do since
there were so many aspects to it. It was one of
the big studies in the agency. We won the Wilbur
Payne Award, which is given for the Army
Study of the Year. I briefed it a hundred times
if I briefed it once. I presented this work at the
MORS Symposium (MORSS) as well.

It was one of those studies that got briefed
so many times that I got really good at it. I could
throw the slides on the ground and brief them in
random order. I could brief it for 15 minutes or
four hours with the same set of slides. In fact, I
still cover it in one of my classes because it’s
a good example of capital budgeting in the mil-
itary. We’ve incorporated it into the book we are
writing on military analysis as well.

Bob Sheldon: So that got you past your three-
year point at CAA?

Andy Loerch: Yes but I worked on some other
things. We worked on a very interesting project
for the Deputy Commander in Chief (DCINC)
of USAREUR. In about 1994, they reduced the
force in Europe from 225,000 soldiers to 65,000.
So the question was, “Where shall we put them?”
We worked the problem as a collaborative re-
search project with Georgia Tech and funded
them to help.

We formulated the problem as a mathemati-
cal optimization problem and came up with a
solution. We were fortunate because the Artifi-
cial Intelligence (Al) Center at West Point had
done a massive data collection on locations
and what their capabilities and capacities were,
and also on units and what their requirements
were. All the data was available.

We built another huge optimization model,
solved it and came up with a solution that
would have saved $50 million a year in operat-
ing funds. Our goal was to minimize operating
expenses. They wanted the cheapest configura-
tion of locations. Of course they didn’t actually
implement that solution because there were po-
litical issues. But I think that at least it showed

them that they weren’t that bad off being within
$50 million per year with their hand-built solu-
tion. We went to Germany to brief it to the
DCINC. He made them at least consider our so-
lution and think about it.

It was fascinating to work with Georgia
Tech. I worked with George Nemhauser, Ellis
Johnson, and a couple of postdoctoral fellows
that they had there.

I also did some work in support of Desert
Shield. Two days after I got to CAA, the balloon
went up in Kuwait. CAA had recently done a
people-in-the-loop wargame on an almost iden-
tical scenario to what was going on in Kuwait.
They were ready to go and do analysis right
away, and they did.

I volunteered to participate in that effort,
and we played the wargame with the real units
that were there. At first, there were hardly any
friendly units and it was looking pretty grim.
Then over time, more units got there and it got
better and better. But I have to admit that we
were among the people that were predicting
10,000 casualties a month. I only worked on that
effort in the very beginning. Later, as more units
came into theatre, the estimates were revised
downward a great deal.

Bill Dunn: CAA was still in Bethesda?

Andy Loerch: This was at Bethesda, right. We
did that until they finally got the Concepts Eval-
uation Model (CEM) cranked up. That was a
closed loop model that didn’t need players.
CAA continued to support the US Army Forces,
Central Command (ARCENT) throughout the
war and in all the preparations of different
courses of action analysis.

It really changed the way CAA did business
because they got CEM to run on a supercom-
puter at Aberdeen, and that speeded up the
whole process. The process that they were using
to do this, which might have taken months pre-
viously, was now being done overnight on the
supercomputer.

Bob Sheldon: Can you point to any specific
decisions that were made as a result of your
analyses?

Andy Loerch: I read Mr. Vandiver’s history
and I'm sure he talked about this, but I know
that they checked out all of the courses of action
prior to execution. I can’t say for sure that the
left hook in Desert Storm was tested out in
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CEM, but there is a good chance of it. They did
all of that in real time and they were passing the
information back and forth overnight.

When they got to that point though, Iwasn’t
involved in it. I went back to work on the re-
source problem. But it was interesting and you
felt like you were actually contributing to the
war for those of us that never got to go. There
was another thing that we did for Desert Storm.
Bob Clemence, who’s now an analyst at Evi-
dence Based Research (EBR), was the other
PhD at CAA at the time. We worked on this
problem together. The problem was that we
were shooting a lot of Patriot missiles to defeat
incoming Scud missiles. The question was
how long was the supply of missiles going to
last and what firing doctrine should we em-
ploy? And there were several different options
of how to fire them.

How do we best do that? We looked at it as
an inventory problem. We have the stack of Pa-
triots over here as our on hand inventory, and
here come the customers, the Scuds flying in,
and we have to service the customers. It turned
out there were two kinds of Patriots. There were
ones that could shoot down missiles and ones
that couldn’t. So the options were you could fire
one Patriot at the Scud or you could fire two
of the missile-defeating Patriots, or you could
shoot one of each. The options had different
probabilities of success.

The question was, how long will the sup-
ply last? To get the arrival distribution of the
customers (the Scuds), we had to find data,
and the Washington Post tracked all the Scud
firings. So we went back through the issues
of the Washington Post that had times and
dates of Scud firings. We fit an exponential dis-
tribution to the data, and we built a spreadsheet
model that calculated inventory levels over time
and engagement results for the various options.
That analysis got briefed all the way up to the
Deputy Secretary of Defense.

We did this analysis over a weekend. It’s
a shame that we don’t get to do more of that
kind of analysis where it’s largely back of the en-
velope. All we used was a spreadsheet to build
a model right then. We collected data that was
available, made some assumptions, and pro-
vided answers quickly. The answer that we pro-
vided said that if they keep firing the Scuds at
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this level, they would run out by this particular
date, which was too early. Our work resulted in
a couple of outcomes.

One was the Air Force had to do attack op-
erations, which meant that they would try to de-
stroy Scud launchers before they fired. This
operation was fairly unsuccessful but they tried
it. The other was Raytheon was told to hurry up
and make some more Patriots. So this analysis
actually did have some ramifications. I like
those kinds of studies where you have a couple
of days and you do what you can and come up
with something interesting. Those opportuni-
ties don’t arise that often. I think that if you were
to be in a situation to support a combatant com-
mander on the battlefield like a lot of our an-
alysts are now, that you would have more of
those opportunities and that would be pretty
cool.

Bob Sheldon: In the seven-year lapse be-
tween your first two tours at CAA, did you no-
tice any difference in the character of CAA?

Andy Loerch: One is that CAA shrunk. It
was down from 150 military and 150 civilians
to 150 total, so it was a lot smaller. The other
thing was that when I first got to CAA, they
had only one computer, a Univac 1108 with cards.
To run COSAGE once overnight, you had to
have the signature of a colonel. If it died over-
night, they’d call you at home—2:00 a.m. —and
say, “The run died. Come and fix it.” They up-
graded to a UNIVAC 1100/32 shortly after I ar-
rived for my first tour. It had a whole
megabyte of random access memory (RAM),
which made it like magic. We went from run-
ning COSAGE once overnight to being able to
run a couple during the day and then a whole
set of 10 overnight. That made the evolution
of the model (COSAGE) a lot faster. It also made
it possible to do studies with it. But all the com-
puting was done behind vault doors in the ter-
minal rooms. The security people used to take
a room in the hotel across the street and try to
read the emanations from the computers and
the terminals. If they could, they came and
repaired the vault doors.

When I got back six or seven years later, ev-
erybody had a personal computer (PC) on their
desk. They still used the mainframes for some of
the computing. The PCs represented such a sig-
nificant improvement in computing capability
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that it really changed the way analysis was
done.

Another thing was that they still had to per-
form the big studies that would take a year or
a year and a half and require a half dozen or
a dozen people; the repetitive studies like Total
Army Analysis (TAA), which they still do. But
they were starting to do a lot more fast turn-
around analyses by then, and that trend has
continued at CAA and all the other analytical
agencies.

To be relevant you have to turn around the
analysis a lot faster now. You want to be inside
the decision cycle for the particular question at
hand. I think what I learned doing the Value
Added studies though, is that we did a lot of
those quick response analyses after doing all
the background work of building and running
the models, collecting information, and getting
buy-in from the decision makers on all that pre-
liminary work. This took a lot of preparation.
We set it up so that we had everything we
needed to answer specific questions as they
arose. So to be responsive, it took a long time
and a lot of background work. Then you were
ready. We could run the optimization and
change constraints to reflect different decisions
very quickly and then answer the mail within
24 hours. We could produce answers even faster
if they were willing to accept the results in
something other than a color briefing. There
were times that I sat in a meeting in the Penta-
gon, in Army PA&E, when they were looking
for ways to reduce procurement expenditures.
I would call back to CAA and they would run
the optimization model and we would give re-
sults in about 10 minutes while the discussion
was still going on. This was unusual though,
because providing results directly to the cus-
tomer without internal review was typically
not done.

So the improvement in responsiveness was
one of the big differences between my first tour
at CAA and the second. The changes were
amazing and I think it makes you more rele-
vant when you can answer these questions
sooner.

Bob Sheldon: What other kinds of studies did
you work on?

Andy Loerch: Practically all the work I did
in my second tour involved mathematical

optimization. Another study I worked on in-
volved the efforts to improve Army strategic
mobility. Many deficiencies were noted in the
deployment of forces to Desert Shield/Desert
Storm. As a result, a call went out to the field
to identify projects that could be funded to
improve the ability of units to deploy. They
ranged from buying different kinds of ships
that were easier to load and unload, to widen-
ing roads that units used to travel to their ports
of debarkation (PODs), and many others in be-
tween. Naturally there were many more pro-
jects submitted than there was money to pay
for them. This is another example of a capital
budgeting problem. We were to formulate this
as an optimization that maximized the im-
provement of force effectiveness through the
implementation of some subset of the projects,
constrained by available budget. We formu-
lated the model, but to our surprise there was
no requirement to identify what the expected
result of the implementation of each project
was. For example, we expected that the project
proposal would say something like, “If we had
more of a particular kind of material handling
equipment, we could deploy such and such
a division to its POD two days faster.” Without
this kind of information the model could not be
run. So that study never went anywhere. I re-
ally didn’t work on many other studies because
Value Added went on and on. I spent most of
my time on that with an occasional excur-
sion into other problems. But they were largely
optimization problems. So I got a facility for
formulating optimizations, which is always
useful.

Bob Sheldon: So you didn’t do any joint
analyses?

Andy Loerch: Not then.

Bob Sheldon: You left CAA in 1995?

Andy Loerch: Right, 1995. The assignment of-
ficer called me up and said, “You've got to leave.
You've been there five years.” I said, “I'm plan-
ning to retire in 1996. My six-year obligation
from graduate school will be over. I'll be a lieu-
tenant colonel with 22 years. So if you just leave
me alone, I will go away and you’ll never hear
from me again.” He said, “No, that won’t work.
You've been there for five years. You've got to
go someplace.” I said, “Okay, what have you
got?” And he said, “Not much.” And I said,
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“That’s ridiculous. Why don’t you just leave me
alone?” And he said, “I'll call you back.”

He offered to send me to teach at West
Point, but I didn’t really want to leave town
for a year. I was planning to retire. A few days
later he called back and told me that he was
sending me to Army PA&E. I guess everything
goes full circle and I finally ended up in Army
PA&E. I showed up there and found that I was
“reassignable excess” in the part of PA&E that
we used to support with Value Added studies.

I knew my way around that place, and each
action officer there had a lane, a set of programs
they were responsible for. You had a guy who
did helicopters. You had a guy who did artillery
or indirect fire systems. You had a guy who did
logistics. You had a guy who did tank and auto-
motive. Everybody else had a lane, but I didn’t
have a lane.

So I got all this other weird stuff like digiti-
zation and horizontal technology insertion. It
was like nailing Jello to the wall and it wasn't re-
ally analysis. Basically it was database queries
and adding columns of numbers. PA&E is not
a huge analytical place although it has the repu-
tation of being that and they have a lot of Army
OR officers, 49s, there. I had been there for sev-
eral months when Van Cunningham came to
brief MG Heebner, the Director, PA&E.

It turns out that there were several big joint
studies going on at that time. The Heavy Bomber
Study was just completed by the Institute for
Defense Analyses (IDA), and Van Cunningham,
who worked in the office of the DCSOPS Tech-
nical Advisor, was one of the folks who repre-
sented the Army during that study. About that
time the Deep Attack Weapons Mix Study
(DAWMS) was just starting up. So Van Cun-
ningham briefed General Heebner about the
Heavy Bomber Study and the follow-on which
was DAWMS. The briefing was just for informa-
tion and the general asked Van, “What can I do
for you?” He said, “Well, you can let LTC
Loerch come to the DAWMS meetings.”

I became one of the Army representatives to
the DAWMS analytical meetings. I showed up
there the first day and I met Jim Bexfield and
several other people from IDA, as well as sev-
eral analysts from all the different services. This
was my first opportunity to do joint studies. The
first words out of their mouths were, “We have
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this big optimization model called the Weapon
Optimization and Resource Requirements Model
(WORRM).”

It was one of those from the class of models
that matches weapon and platform combina-
tions to a static target set over time. It had a lot
of bells and whistles. They said the objective
function was to minimize aircraft loss. An Army
guy sitting there doesn’t particularly care about
aircraft attrition so I said, “What has that got to
do with anything?” They looked at me because
that’s what they had used for the heavy bomber
study, and I said, “What has that got to do with
the success or failure of the campaign, which is
what we want to measure.”

I raised all kinds of complaints about it, and
ultimately they changed it and they did it a dif-
ferent way. That was my first DAWMS meeting.
We worked on that study for about two years. A
lot of people have a lot of bad things to say about
DAWMS because it involved a big group of an-
alysts, and every part of the analysis, every data
element, every piece of methodology that in-
cluded building all new scenarios for Korea
and for Southwest Asia, and the way the optimi-
zation was set up was argued and argued. It was
admittedly a very slow process.

Two very interesting guys—Colonel Dewey
George, who was the Division Chief at J8 War-
fighting Analysis Division, and now General
Cartwright, who was a colonel at the time but
isnow the US Strategic Command (STRATCOM)
Commander. General Cartwright has been the J§,
but he was the representative from a different
part of J8 at the time. Those two guys ran the
study and IDA did the heavy lifting. IDA did
a lot of the model running, and Jim Bexfield
was the lead analyst there.

Jim would always run in with warm slides
because they had just come from the printer.
That’s how that went and we did that every
day. It was a huge study and the question that
needed an answer was “What mix of high per-
formance smart munitions should be bought?”

The heavy bomber study said we don’t
need any more B-2s; we need more smart muni-
tions. So what smart munitions and how many
was the question for DAWMS. We didn’t only
consider Air Force weapons, but weapons from
the other services were considered as well.
For example, Tomahawks for the Navy, Army
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Tactical Missile System (ATACMS) missiles, and
Hellfire missiles for the Army were also in the
trade space for the study.

It was truly a joint study and we worked
on it for a long time. It was fascinating and it
became my primary duty. Ultimately I was
moved out of PA&E. They set up a temporary
directed military over strength division in Army
DCSOPS, and we represented the Army in that
study and then eventually in other joint studies,
and finally in the 1997 Quadrennial Defense Re-
view (QDR). We were part of the Army contin-
gent that represented the Army for the QDR in
1997.

It was an interesting tour but I never really
enjoyed working in the Pentagon. But at least
this was analytical and we had a big optimiza-
tion. It had a lot of moving parts. It was a very
interesting study and I think the hard part of it
was that everybody in the services knew this
was a resource drill. So everybody was fighting
for their service and fighting for the resources
and the question was, could you do that and
then not have everybody else in the world hate
you.

I always felt best about the fact that I walked
out of there with my reputation intact. We all
advocated for our services; we had to. But to
be able to do thatin an ethical way was a difficult
task. A lot of people didn’t like the way that
DAWMS became so adversarial.

It did take a long time but I think that was
a very interesting case study on how to do joint
analysis. What resulted from it were the scenar-
ios that we built from scratch, the Tactical War-
fare (TACWAR) simulation scenarios that J8 ran,
were then scenarios that were used for the QDR
in 1997. They didn’t have to build new ones be-
cause all the services participated in building
the DAWMS scenarios, and had signed off on
them.

That would have really slowed down the
QDR if you had to start over again and build
a set of joint scenarios. So there were a lot of
good things that came out of DAWMS. I ulti-
mately ended up as chief of that directed mili-
tary over strength division in DCSOPS. That
was possible because I had been unexpectedly
promoted to colonel. A month before my obliga-
tion from graduate school was over, while I was
still working in Army PA&E, I got called to MG

Heebner’s office and he said, “Congratulations.
You got selected for colonel.” This was a huge
shock. You'll see that the trend here is that I
never made a conscious career decision. Every
time [ came up on a place where I could possibly
get out of the Army, they gave me something
else and I ended up staying around. I stayed
for another five years due to being promoted.

Bob Sheldon: Who did you report to in
DCSOPS?

Andy Loerch: We worked for Force Develop-
ment (FD), so for a while, it was MG Anderson,
who was the FD, and then he was replaced. But
we actually did a lot of work directly for then
LTG Shinseki who was the DCSOPS at the time.
It was interesting because we really had an
open door to his office. Part of the whole drill
in DAWMS was that every three weeks they
would hold a huge meeting where all the ser-
vices would be represented by their operations
officer, and then the week after that all the Vice
Chiefs would get together and be briefed on
DAWMS. So we spent a lot of time with the
DCSOPS and the Vice to poop them up for these
meetings. We got to know them pretty well. So
we were operating at a pretty high level there.

Bill Dunn: Who was the Vice at that time?

Andy Loerch: General Griffin. He had been
the Inspector General (IG) before. The process
of getting these guys ready for these meetings
was always funny because as a staff officer in
the Pentagon, we used to make what were
called facing pages. The read-ahead briefing
would come in, we would put information on
the backside of the previous slide that had the
Army point of view and included what we
wanted them to say. They would have a note-
book with this augmented briefing in it.

The general would follow along with the
briefing and then periodically, he’d bang his fist
on the table and read what you told him to say.
That’s just the way it was. It’s staff work.

That division had some pretty good ana-
lysts in it. It was originally led by Colonel John
Floris. He was working for SYColeman the
last I heard. When he retired I took over as Di-
vision Chief. Another of the action officers in
FDX—that was the designation of that division—
was John Gordon. He is a Rand analyst now and
he got his PhD at GMU and I was on his doctoral
committee.
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Bob Larson also got his PhD at GMU, and he
later served on the Joint Staff at J8 for a subse-
quent QDR. There were a lot of people in the di-
vision that were very good—all good writers,
good briefers. Our goal in that division at
DCSOPS was to leave at 5:30 in the afternoon.

We typically got there at 5:30 in the morning
so that meant that you worked a half a day, 5:30
to 5:30. We usually were able to leave by 5:30
only two or three times a week because it was
DCSOPS after all. People typically put in long
hours there. But people would say, “It must be
nice,” when you were walking out at 5:30 and
you’d say, “Yes, it is nice. If you anticipate re-
quirements and do it right the first time, you
get to leave.” It was a great bunch of guys to
work with and I think we represented the Army
pretty well and pretty ethically.

Bill Dunn: What did the assignment folks
want to do with you when you made colonel
and had been in DCSOPS for a while? Did you
have any choices?

Andy Loerch: It was a directed military over
strength division. Everybody in there was over
strength on the staff and to extend us again—
because they had extended us a couple of times
now—they would have had to go to Congress
for permission and that wasn’t happening.

So I was a free agent. Just at that time, Dick
Pollen, who was a division chief at CAA, unex-
pectedly retired. He’s now an analyst at IDA. So
Vandiver called me up and said, “FS Division is
opening up. Dick just retired.” I was surprised
about it. He said, “It wasn’t what you've done
before but if you're interested, you can have
that job.”

Bob Sheldon: What's FS?

Andy Loerch: 1t's Force Strategy Division.
So I called up Branch and a much more coop-
erative assignment officer was there. I said,
“Vandiver just offered me this Division Chief
at the CAA.” So she said, “Tell me that you have
found yourself an assignment and I don’t have
to backfill you.” I said, “Yes.” She said, “That’s
what I'm talking about.” So next thing I know, I
was back at CAA for the third time. This was my
third tour. Nobody else has ever had three tours
at CAA. Now Joe Stilwell, who was General
“Vinegar” Joe Stilwell’s grandson, was an an-
alyst at CAA when I was there as a captain.
He was there for nine years straight, so he holds
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the record for most continuous years at CAA.
But I was there longer than any other military
officer, and I'm the only one who’s ever been
there for three tours, as far as I know.

Bill Dunn: And you were at both CAA
locations.

Andy Loerch: Right. We were still at Bethesda
in 1997 when I got there and then we moved to
Fort Belvoir shortly afterward. I was a Division
Chief.

Bob Sheldon: What projects did Van throw at
you?

Andy Loerch: We did a lot of very innovative
work in FS and I had some really talented an-
alysts that worked there. We had LTC Pat
Dubois, who did the SADE [Stochastic Analy-
sis for Deployments and Excursions] work,
which was a prediction of the number of
small-scale contingencies (SSCs) that the US
Military would have to respond to. We also
did the so-called Mission Task Organized Force
(MTOF) work, which involved force structure
requirements for SSCs.

This was a hot topic back at that point. It
was the end of the 1990s and that’s what the
Army was doing. Nobody knew how to predict
the number, type, and duration of SSCs at that
time. To do it we modeled the system of prose-
cuting SSCs as a queue—I guess a G/G/infinity
queue—because basically these SSCs would ar-
rive and then the Army would service them by
sending forces out. The question was “How of-
ten did these missions occur? What was the ar-
rival rate? And then how long did they last?”

They had very hard data to collect. Nobody
kept good records of deployments and missions
that had occurred. The Armed Forces actually
went to many of these things. But by the time I
left there in 2000, they had around 400 named
joint operations in the database they had tracked
from the end of the Cold War to about 1997.
Then they built the database and used it to fit
distributions on the times between occurrences
and durations, and then modeled the system
as a queue.

They ran the simulation and developed a
distribution on how often different missions
were executed. The important part of the analy-
sis was measuring the overlap between mis-
sions. The idea was to see what kind and how
many missions were going on at the same time.
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This had ramifications for force structure de-
cisions. At the same time we were doing the
MTOF work. As I said, that work estimated
the types and number of Army units that would
be used to respond to different kinds of SSC
missions. The process was actually very simple.
It was a workshop. It was originally done in re-
sponse to the Dynamic Commitment wargames
that J8 sponsored. All the services were given
scenarios and were told to provide the forces
that they would use to accomplish the given
missions. There were around 60 or so scenarios.
It was a lot of work to answer that question. So
CAA developed the method to build the MTOFs
before I returned, and then we made use of it
to do force structure analysis.

We’d have these workshops and we’d get
people from the various branch schools and
from the COCOMs to participate. The partici-
pants would sit down and say, “For this sce-
nario, what would we have to do?” And
they’d go through the Universal Joint Task List
(UJTL) and make a list of all the things that
they’d have to do to accomplish the given mis-
sion associated with the scenario. Then they
would ask “What units would we use to do
this?” They would make a list of all the units
that they needed to do all the tasks that were
identified.

They would then have to reconcile the list
by considering the relationships between the
tasks. If a particular type unit could perform
multiple tasks, it had to be determined if they
could do them sequentially so we only needed
one unit, or if we needed more than one because
the tasks had to be done at the same time. That
was the way they built the force structure for
a particular scenario, and they repeated the pro-
cess for a whole bunch of different scenarios.

Ultimately what happened was we put
those two together, the prediction of the occur-
rence of SSCs and the MTOF work and were
able to develop a probability distribution on
the simultaneous use of each individual type
unit over time. So it answered the question,
“How many units of each type were needed at
any particular time?” Then that could be used
to influence the force for the TAA, which had
heretofore only done major combat operations.

That SSC force structure and prediction was
a big accomplishment. We also did a bunch of

work in preparation for General Shinseki’s an-
nouncement at the Association of the United
States Army (AUSA) annual meeting that the
Army would transform. He was the Chief of
Staff by then. For that whole summer before
the AUSA convention in 1999, we did a lot of
work on what has since become the Future
Combat Systems (FCS), and the idea of a smaller
vehicle that could be moved more quickly.

What we showed was that it wasn’t re-
ally going to do exactly what they said. They
wanted to be able to put a brigade anywhere
in the world in 96 hours. It turned out that
you really couldn’t do that unless you pre-
positioned equipment in several different
places. It was another example of a very fast
turnaround analysis that was very important.
In fact, I still have the data that was collected,
and I still use it for a case study in one of my
classes now.

It was a very interesting problem and I
think very cleverly addressed by some of the
people at CAA. The analyst that worked on that
was Lieutenant Colonel Keith Solveson. He was
very good and ultimately ended up in the Pen-
tagon working for Vern Bettencourt. Our idea
in FS was we would do interesting things and
when it became routine, we would pass it on
to somebody else.

Bill Dunn: Were you reporting directly to
Vandiver?

Andy Loerch: Pretty much, yes. I was a Divi-
sion Chief and Dan Shedlowski was the Tech Di-
rector at that time. Colonel Mike Simmons was
the Chief of Staff at CAA. He had been the Chief
of Staff for a long time.

Bob Sheldon: Where was Forrest Crain?

Andy Loerch: Forrest Crain was in a different
division. We had been analysts together as lieu-
tenant colonels but he was a campaign analyst
and he was a School of Advanced Military Stud-
ies (SAMS) graduate and tactically very profi-
cient. He is the best campaign analyst I've ever
met. As a matter of fact, that’s why I got him
to write the campaign analysis chapter in our
book. He worked over there doing theatre cam-
paign analysis and then ultimately, he became
the Division Chief of that Division about the
same time I became the Division Chief of FS.
So we worked together but separately for a long
time.
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Bill Dunn: So you made colonel. You never
had anything that was equivalent of battal-
ion command and you never went to the
War College.

Andy Loerch: No. The year before I was to
go to the colonel promotion board, they pro-
moted three guys that were single-track 49s
to colonel. Before that they hadn’t promoted
any in a long time. But none of them had
a PhD so I believe what happened was Mr.
Hollis and General Stroup, who was the Dep-
uty Chief of Staff for Personnel (DCSPER) at
the time, influenced the instructions to the
colonel board to say, “Yes, we have a floor of
three and, by the way, take a close look at these
guys with a PhD because we’ve got a lot
invested in them.”

That year they promoted three of us. They
promoted me and Gary Swenson, who was also
in PA&E at the same time and later became the
Chief of Staff of CAA; and Bob Clemence, who
was the guy I worked with on the Patriot pro-
ject. After that they promoted one guy a year
for many years so it was very difficult to get pro-
moted. I had been picked up for War College by
correspondence because 49s were not allowed
to go to resident War College at the time. Go fig-
ure. They’ve changed that now. But I was look-
ing at this and saying, “I'm not going to do War
College.”

I was teaching on the side because I was
preparing myself for my next career at the time.
I'was teaching even when I was in the Pentagon.
I'was teaching operations management and de-
cision support systems courses at Virginia Tech.
I always felt like I had a finite capacity brain
and I had gotten to the point where everything
I learned, I would forget something else. So I
had to be very judicious in what I learned be-
cause I was liable to forget something that I'd
rather know; so twice I turned down War Col-
lege by correspondence.

I think the more important thing was that
you got picked up for War College, not that
you actually went. Nevertheless there was no
way. I considered it impossible to be promoted
to colonel. I did not get a new picture taken. I
did not look at my officer record brief (ORB). I
did not do any preparation for the promotion
board. The day that the colonel list came out, I
was at a meeting with an analyst Army guy
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from J8 named Dale Kem. He was a lieutenant
colonel. He said, “The colonel list is coming
out today.” I said, “Oh, really?”

I didn’t even know they were meeting so
when I got a call from the executive officer
(XO) at PA&E who said, “Come and see the gen-
eral,” I said, “Whoa.” I went in there and I was
shocked, to say the least, especially since I'd
planned to retire in the summer. But I had held
off putting in my paperwork for retirement be-
cause I really wanted to see what would happen
with the board, and I guess it wasn’t a zero
Bayesian prior probability of making it, but I
think it was very unusual.

I was happy to have made lieutenant colo-
nel because I came out of Staff College right af-
ter graduate school. I had not had an efficiency
report for four years going to the lieutenant col-
onel board. So I figured I was really lucky to
make lieutenant colonel and I figured my career
had culminated. So I tended to be outspoken in
some of the things that I said, but I figured,
“What are they going to do? I'm not going to
be promoted anymore anyway.” But then after
I was promoted to colonel I was even more out-
spoken.

Bob Sheldon: Let’s backtrack to when you
first got involved with MORS. I assume that’s
one of the times you were working for Van?

Andy Loerch: Right. When I started working
for Van in the early 1990s, I started to go to
MORS all the time and I was largely a presenter.

Bob Sheldon: Which studies did you present?

Andy Loerch: I presented the Value Added
studies; and I presented the nonlinear costs
implementation as a separate presentation. I
came close to winning the Barchi prize with that
one. There was one MORSS at NPS where I gave
six presentations of which four were different
and two were given twice. I did a lot of that
and I always enjoyed it.

Then I got involved in the resource analysis
and costing working group and I was a co-chair
for that for a while. Tom Frazier was the chair,
but they evolved more into the costing side than
the resource side and I was more into the re-
source side. So I got involved in other ways
but that’s primarily what I did. I went all the
time and I gave a lot of presentations.

I kept doing that. Even when I was in the
Pentagon, I was going and they were not as
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supportive in the Pentagon of people going to
MORSS as Van was at CAA.

Bob Sheldon: Did you serve as a working
group chair?

Andy Loerch: 1 was never a working group
chair at the annual symposia, but I was a co-
chair for a couple of years. Also, I was a work-
ing group chair at some special meetings. My
MORS background was less on the meeting
planning side of the house and, let’s face it, most
of the leadership of MORS comes from the
symposium committees and out of the work-
ing groups, and I was always more interested
in professional affairs (PA) issues such as publi-
cations and education.

Bill Dunn: And you were nominated for the
Barchi prize four times.

Andy Loerch: Yes.

Bill Dunn: You came close.

Andy Loerch: Yes. Maybe now as my time on
the Board here is growing short, I look forward
to going back and being a presenter again. Give
it another shot, who knows?

Bob Sheldon: What year did you join the
MORS Board of Directors?

Andy Loerch: It was 1999 at West Point. I had
never really thought about it and Howard
Whitley, who was on the Board and worked
for Van, came to my office one day. Van likes to
have people from CAA on the Board. So Howard
Whitley said, “Van wants to know if you want to
run for the MORS Board.” I said, “Okay.” The
problem was that in the previous year, when
the symposium was in Quantico, I had hernia
surgery that week so I didn’t go.

Whitley said, “Who do you want to nomi-
nate you?” I had Cy Staniec, who I knew and
was in my class at Armed Forces Staff College,
and Bob Sheldon. Howard said, “Well, Bob’s
going to be the President.” I said, “That ought
to work.” I didn’t even go to the symposium
the year before, so I was thinking, “I've got
a snowball’s chance in hell of getting elected
to the Board.” I got off the bus at West Point
and they said, “Congratulations. You got
elected.” SoI'was on the Board. I've been there
ever since. It seems like a very long time.

Bob Sheldon: During your early years on the
Board, do any activities stand out in your mind?

Andy Loerch: Very early on, I was educa-
tion chair and I did an education colloquium

at CAA, and that worked out pretty well. That
was important because it seemed that the edu-
cation colloquium had sunk a little bit. I had
a really good group of organizers. Jeff Appleget
worked on that committee and his big accom-
plishment was to get the Coast Guard Academy
there. We've had a real hard time getting the
Coast Guard ever since.

We had all the academies. We had folks
from GMU. It was real successful. Stuart Starr
gave a tutorial on best practices in command
and control (C2). I think that event was the gen-
esis of Roy Rice’s famous “What's the Prob-
lem?” tutorial that he did in the symposium
the following year. He decided to put that tuto-
rial together because the students would get up
and give their presentations and they didn’t
give a really good problem definition. We all
know that that’s probably the hardest and most
important part of any study. So that resulted in
Roy’s tutorial, which has really had legs.

I steal it and show it in my class. We’ve in-
corporated it into the book. So that was a big
deal. I was education chair. I was publications
chair. Bob Sheldon was also my MORS mentor
and he always will be. One’s MORS mentor is
always one’s MORS mentor. Bob said try to do
things that lead you to one place or another.
PA was my interest and I had the publications
committee. That’s when Larry Rainey from
Aerospace Corporation approached MORS about
writing a book on military OR, and particularly
about analysis at the national and departmen-
tal levels. There’s really nothing written about
that level of analysis in any comprehensive
way.
If you look at the military OR literature,
you'll find a great deal written about things like
detection and attrition. There’s tons of stuff
written about attrition. Most of it is at the very
micro level. There really wasn’t anything writ-
ten about "This is how you do force structure
analysis or this is how you do theatre campaign
analysis or this is how you do capital budgeting
or strategic mobility.

Willie McFadden was the Vice President for
Professional Affairs (VPPA) at the time. In fact |
ran for VPPA and Willie beat me. He called me
up and said, “Would you talk to this guy be-
cause he’s got an idea for a new MORS book
and you're the publications chair.” So I did.
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When Larry explained his idea for the book, I
said, “Gee, that’s interesting. I have the outline
for that book. It’s the outline for my course
and there is no book for that course. I'd be very
interested in working on it with you.” We've
been working on it ever since and it’s almost
done. So that was a big deal.

I did audit committee and prize committee.
1 did a lot of different committee work, and then
I ran for Vice President for Financial Manage-
ment (VPFM) and won that. I think my year in
VPFM was great preparation for being Presi-
dent, because it’s not well known, even to the
Board members, exactly how the finances of
MORS work. Of course it’s all changing now.

I had a fairly noncontroversial year as
VPFM. We did the standard things, pay for the
staff and bonuses and meeting fees and that’s
pretty much it; approve the budget. Then I ran
for President and, surprisingly, won.

Tom Allen was the Immediate Past Pre-
sident that year. Around December, just like
always, he started to put together the slate
of candidates to run for the Executive Coun-
cil (EC) for the next year. He asked me if I
wanted to run for President. By this time, I
had retired and I was at GMU. I had a three-
year contract and it wasn’t clear whether they
were going to renew it or not. I didn’t want to
run the risk of running for President and then
not being able to do it if something changed.
Then I might not be able to participate in
MORS. So I told Tom Allen, “No.” Several
months later, he called me back and said, “Right
now the situation we’re in is that Suzanne
Beers is running for President and nobody else.
So would you please reconsider?” By this time
my contract was squared away and I said,
“Sure.” I didn’t think I could beat Suzanne, to
tell you the truth, but I did. So I think one of
the qualifications to be President of MORS is
that you don’t expect or even necessarily want
to be President.

Bob Sheldon: How was your year as Presi-
dent Elect?

Andy Loerch: First of all, Willie was really
great as far as allowing me to participate in just
about everything and the fact that I was here in
town facilitated that. So I did everything that
I could possibly do. I went to every meeting
I could possibly go to. Then Willie got sick and
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I got a call from the MORS office saying, ”
Willie’s in the hospital.” And I'm thinking,
“Whoa.”

So I got to do some things that he would have
actually done. For instance, probably the most
important thing that a MORS President does is
run the Sponsors luncheon in the December/
January timeframe, because that’s where the
special meetings topics for the next year are dis-
cussed and approved by the Sponsors.

That’s very important because arguably one
of the most important things MORS does is the
special meetings and you've got to not mess that
up. But Willie was not able to do that so I had the
opportunity to do that, both his year and my
year.

Bill Dunn: I was the special meetings chair
then.

Andy Loerch: You were the one. The most im-
portant innovation was that was the first year
we had concept papers on special meetings (I
have since heard that in fact a concept paper
was a requirement for special meetings, and
had probably been ignored for some time). I
had no idea what to expect. I'd never been to
one of these Sponsors meetings before, but they
all had the copies of the concept papers.

It focused the Sponsors. It made them un-
derstand better what we were thinking with re-
spect to the potential special meetings, and the
conversation was great. There were some in-
stances where they took a couple of the meet-
ing topics and combined them into one. They
picked some others.

There was a lot of good discussion at that
Sponsors lunch, and after it was over I asked
Brian and Natalie, “Was that okay?” They said,
“That was great because everybody was talking
and contributing.” But it was all facilitated by
the concept papers. They have become an im-
portant component of managing and planning
special meetings, and it’s something that we’'ve
continued and in fact expanded. And that’s a
very important thing as long as we do business
this way. In the past, all we gave the Sponsors
were just meeting titles. They each interpreted
them in different ways. A lot of the Sponsors
lunch was taken up just getting everyone to un-
derstand what the meetings were supposed to
be about and to get everyone on the same sheet
of music.
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Bob Sheldon: So this was the first use of con-
cept papers for special meetings?

Andy Loerch: Yes. That was during Willie’s
year, and that was very important. I had as good
a year as a President Elect as you could possibly
have and it was largely because I was in town. I
was able to do a lot of things and I appreciate
Willie’s allowing me to do them.

Bob Sheldon: Then you transition to Presi-
dent and the workload explodes?

Andy Loerch: Everybody says that. “Watch
your emails double.” And that’s exactly true.
You get emails from everybody. You'll get two
guys down in the depths of a special meeting
planning committee exchanging emails and
copying the President. You get these emails
and especially when you're a rookie at it and
you're first starting out, you feel like you've
got to come up on the net for each one of that
type of message.

Later on you realize, no, you don’t. Note it
and then that’s it. The other thing was as soon
as I took over, I got a call from the Joint Staff say-
ing, “Come and talk to Major General Hunseker,
the Vice J-8.” I knew him—he was the lieutenant
colonel in the Joint Staff working on DAWMS.

They gave no indication what the topic was,
plus Brian was on vacation so I'm on my own. I
stopped at the MORS office and I grabbed a cou-
ple of briefings because I didn’t know what he
wanted to hear; coffee mugs and other para-
phernalia, and I was off to the Joint Staff to meet
with General Hunseker. As we were walking
through the door to his office, he said, “The
topic is money.” That really set the tenor for
my whole year because we messed around with
Sponsors’ contributions the entire time.

The crux of the matter was the smaller
Sponsors—]Joint Staff, Office of the Secretary of
Defense (OSD), and the Marines—didn’t want
to pay so much. They were in a period where
money was tight. It was a capital budgeting
problem and they had other expenses.

It got a little bit scary because MORS
depended on Sponsor funding. The advantage
of having been VPFM was to be able to say,
“Here’s how MORS does business,” and be
able to explain the difference between societal
money and contract money, how the sympo-
sium is run from a financial standpoint, how
the special meetings were run, how the Phalanx

was paid for, and how the MOR journal is paid
for.

I'walked out of there and that set off a whole
sequence of events that got us into a discussion
of MORS funding issues. So that was probably
the most noteworthy thing in my year. In fact,
it generated yet another Sponsors lunch. I think
I'also hold the record for most Sponsors lunches.
We had a special Sponsors lunch on funding
and the result of that was to put together a
committee from the Sponsors to examine this is-
sue and to determine how they were going to fi-
nance MORS.

The chair of that was Roy Reiss. He volun-
teered to do that, and I tell you, we all know
people in MORS that do a lot of work. Roy Reiss
does a lot of different things and he’s contrib-
uted to MORS in so many different ways. He’s
been the synthesis chair of several different spe-
cial meetings, and he’s a Sponsor’s rep for the
Air Force.

He chaired this very difficult committee on
funding and there was a lot of back and forth on
the whole thing for the whole year and, finally,
at the symposium at the end of my year, he
had what amounted to another Sponsors lunch
and sat down and discussed it. The Sponsors all
agreed on a new formula for how each orga-
nization was going to contribute to the MORS
contract.

That took up a lot of energy. It started right
away and it lasted the entire year. My goal was
that at least Suzanne and whoever came behind
would not have to worry about that. I was
happy as a hog in mud. I said, “We’ve got this
nailed and everybody’s satisfied and every-
body’s signed up to do this.” Of course that hap-
piness was short lived given the changes that
are taking place in MORS financing now.

Bob Sheldon: Talk about the annual sympo-
sium during your year as President. Any crises?

Andy Loerch: No. It was actually very
smooth. It wasn’t one of the bigger ones. I think
we had about 900 people; I guess that’s usual for
MORSS at West Point. I got nominated at West
Point for the Board and was President at West
Point at the annual symposium, although I
never went to West Point as a student. The sym-
posium went pretty well. Another issue that
took place during the year was a Training Trans-
formation special meeting. The previous year,
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Dr. Chu addressed a Sponsors Hot Topics spe-
cial session at the symposium at Leavenworth.
He said, “We're doing a training transforma-
tion, joint training, and we really don’t know
how to assess it. So we would like to gather
a group of people for a special meeting on the
subject of joint training assessment, and kick it
around and see if we can work on that.”

That was supposed to happen in the spring
before I became President. It got delayed and
we ended up holding that meeting in the fall.
It was a very successful meeting and I think that
was the kind of thing that MORS does very
well. When somebody comes and says, “We just
don’t have a clue what to do analytically in
a particular area, to actually get smart people to-
gether for a few days to think about the problem
and to suggest some ways to deal with it.” That
was the case for the Training Transformation
workshop.

We did the first Capabilities-Based Plan-
ning workshop. It was held at IDA and they
didn’t expect a huge crowd. We had room for
100 people and 200 showed up. It was very good
and had great speakers. General Hunseker
was one of the speakers. He was upset be-
cause there was a tongue-in-cheek Phalanx arti-
cle several months before that made fun of the
Capabilities-Based Planning System. Although
the article didn’t mention him by name, they
did mention his position as gatekeeper and
made fun of that.

So he addressed all that. All the sarcasm in
the Phalanx article was said tongue-in-cheek,
but it reflected the fact that many analysts were
uncomfortable about the changes that were be-
ing made, and didn’t really understand it all.
A lot of information was provided and people
were able to ask questions and I think it really
did move that process forward as well. We
had, I think, a really great set of meetings. We
were originally supposed to have five but it
was moved back to four.

I think that was the second year of the edu-
cation colloquium student competition. The col-
loquium was held up at West Point. That forum
has been very successful in introducing MORS
and military OR to others besides just military
people and people in the academies. So we're
getting all kinds of civilian students to partici-
pate. I think that’s a really worthwhile thing.
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Ilook forward to being involved in that and con-
tinuing to participate in the education commit-
tee and colloquium in the future as I've done
before. It was an eventful year and it went by
very fast.

Bob Sheldon: Then you transitioned to being
a Past President. What advice has Suzanne
solicited from you?

Andy Loerch: Because I was Immediate Past
President, I was still part of the EC, and the chair
of the advisory committee. But she never for-
mally asked for the advisory committee to do
anything. I sat next to her at all the EC and
Board meetings and we would discuss various
things that came up.

Over time we’ve talked offline about differ-
ent things, especially when the Government Ac-
countability Office (GAO) ruling came with the
changes in the way MORS is going do business
from now on. There’s a lot of discussion there
and we’ve interacted on that. I sent her an email
and said, “It’s a good time not to be President
because this is a hard one. This financial change
is a really big deal.”

She’s done a good job of that and it will be
interesting to see how it goes. I think it’s a great
opportunity for MORS to be a little more inde-
pendent. I think that would be good. I certainly
think that we always have to be connected to the
analytical infrastructure of the Defense Depart-
ment through the MORS Sponsors. But I think
that the opportunity to be a little more indepen-
dent financially will allow us to be a little more
independent—period. And I think it'll allow us
to be a little more responsive to the membership
than we might have been in the past.

I was co-chair of the Homeland Security-
Homeland Defense workshop and I think that
it took a long time for the Sponsors to come
around to the idea that we really did want to en-
gage in Homeland Security and the analysis that
is associated with it. Our membership, espe-
cially on the contractor side, does work for De-
partment of Homeland Security (DHS) as well
as the Department of Defense (DoD).

We could argue that the defense of the coun-
try is the defense of the country whether it is be-
ing managed by DoD or by DHS. I think that it
should be fair game for MORS to be involved
in the business of homeland security and that
we have a contribution to make. I think we’ve
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come to a position now where we can actually
be a little more responsive so that’s a good
thing.

That was a very difficult special meeting be-
cause it took place right around the time of
Katrina, and the Federal Emergency Manage-
ment Agency (FEMA) and the DHS took a lot
of gas for what happened. They really circled
the wagons and didn’t want their people out
talking in public. We lost our plenary speakers
shortly before the meeting. It was my job as
co-chair to find the plenary speakers. There
aren’t too many worse things that could happen
for a special meeting than to lose them right be-
fore the meeting. We went into scramble mode
at that point to put it back together. Fortunately,
we found some very good speakers.

One was from FEMA, who had some very
interesting things to say; some very constructive
things to say for the audience who were largely
from DoD and were participants in that meet-
ing. That actually came out pretty well.

I did the same things as Tom Allen did as
well as other Immediate Past Presidents, and
that was to set up the slate of potential MORS of-
ficers for the next year. I think we’ve got a good
slate this year. We also gather nominations for
the big awards for the year, the Wanner Award
and the Thomas Award. Steve Balut won the
Thomas Award, which is interesting because
we teach a class together at IDA in our GMU
graduate program on cost analysis. I knew that
he had been nominated by Jack Borsting, from
NPS. Steve was the first PhD in OR from NPS
ever, and he was retiring.

I'went over to coordinate the class and Steve
asked me, “What are you doing with MORS?” 1
really couldn’t tell him because I knew he had
already been nominated for the Thomas Award.
Roy Rice won the Wanner Award. He was Presi-
dent of MORS my second year on the Board and
I admire him a great deal. The change from be-
ing President to being Immediate Past President
is significant, but there’s still plenty to do. It’s
structured with respect to when you have to
do things and when they’re due. I guess my last
official act here is to run the elections.

Bob Sheldon: Let’s drop back. You retired
from the Army at CAA and went to GMU.

Andy Loerch: I wasn’t sure what I was going
to do. I always wanted an academic job and I

expected to retire in 1996 as a lieutenant colonel.
At that time I applied for 20 academic jobs all
throughout the northeast. I got zero interviews,
and I was thinking, “Why?” I had a PhD from
Cornell, which is considered a good thing.

I had been teaching as an adjunct fac-
ulty at Virginia Tech and George Washington
University for eight years. I had several pub-
lications. I was involved in several journals
as associate editor. I felt like I had done al-
most a full-time faculty job in my spare time
and I think I'd demonstrated that I could
do it. But what I was told was largely that,
“You're different. Most faculty members at
most universities go from undergrad and
right through graduate school and then they
become faculty.”

Just like a promotion board, hiring faculty is
like a cloning exercise. People looked at it and
said, “First of all, this guy’s old. Second, he’s
military.” So zero interest was generated in hir-
ing me as a faculty member at a university. I
wasn’t sure what to do, and then making colo-
nel delayed the decision for several years. But
in 2000 I picked a retirement date one year in ad-
vance. I turned in my papers before they did
something else good for me and kept me around
even longer.

I started thinking about it and I got con-
tacted by GMU. They said, “We’re looking to
put a track in military applications in our OR
master’s program. Are you interested in partici-
pating?” Yes, I was. Here I was after all of that
lack of success a few years earlier to have this
opportunity just show up, and I got hired at
GMU. It’s a great job. I really enjoy it. I get to
teach what I did for a long time. I'm still able
to participate in a lot of things.

I do consulting. I do MORS. So I'm still able
to do the things I like. I maintain a security clear-
ance, and then I get to teach and have the advan-
tages of being a faculty member.

It’s a big transition to go from a place
where somebody knows where you are 24 hours
a day, seven days a week, to a place where they
really don’t care where you are as long as you
show up to class and your occasional committee
meetings.

I really enjoy working with the students.
Most of our students are part time. I interact
mostly with graduate students.
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Bob Sheldon: How many are active duty offi-
cers or military contractors?

Andy Loerch: Right now I have four Army
PhD students. I have four Army master’s stu-
dents and then we’ve had a steady stream of
Coast Guard people. We're going to get a Navy
student this year. So we’ve got quite a few active
duty military people. We also get part time ac-
tive duty people that need their master’s de-
gree. In this field, you need a master’s degree
to be competitive on active duty or even if you
work for a contractor.

I've had whole classes where everybody
had a security clearance. We don’t ever do clas-
sified work there but everybody in the class has
a security clearance. Some are government em-
ployees. I had a very good student from the Sim-
ulation and Analysis Center in OSD PA&E this
year. So we get government employees. We
have active duty military and we have contrac-
tors, lots of contractors.

Probably 90% of our OR program is made
up of folks that are doing defense-related work.
So that’s what made GMU want to do some-
thing with military applications in the OR
program. We teach military OR—just like I de-
scribed in the book—at the national and ser-
vice departmental levels. Rob Alexander, who
got a PhD from NPS, teaches combat simu-
lation. So we do have the combat simulation
class in the program. As I mentioned, we teach
the cost analysis class out at IDA. They trot
out the world’s greatest experts on the vari-
ous aspects of defense cost analysis to give the
lectures.

Most of the lectures are given by folks from
IDA who do research in the various areas. It is
a very well-received class. I only teach two of
the lectures myself. One is a statistics review, be-
cause you've got to do a lot of regression analy-
sis in building cost estimating relationships. I
teach the learning curve lecture because that’s
the basis of the nonlinear costs in the value-
added study. I always talk about the optimiza-
tion of nonlinear costs in the lecture as well. So
that’s been great. I've really enjoyed it and it’s
a great second career.

Bob Sheldon: Let’s talk about your appoint-
ment here at LML

Andy Loerch: We had funding for the book to
get a literary edit. After all, we had 35 engineers
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writing this book. So Aerospace Corporation
was going to fund it but my co-editor left Aero-
space and went to AFIT for a while, and his boss
left Aerospace as well. He was very supportive
of the book project and had put a bunch of
money in his budget for the edit. Then they both
left and we lost the funding.

So I called Brian McEnany at Science Appli-
cations International Corporation (SAIC), Cy
Staniec and Bill Lese at Northrop Grumman,
and some other folks at Calibre and DFI Interna-
tional Government Services looking for corpo-
rate contributions to cover the cost of the edit.
I would say, “Brian, this is the deal, you think
you can help me out?” I think they gave us some
money. I called Cy and Bill Lese in Northrop
Grumman and they gave us some money and
called Calibre—several places—DFI. They all
contributed, but still I didn’t even have a third
of what I needed. I play in an orchestra and
the conductor of the orchestra worked at LMI.
He invited me to visit LMI and see a project he
was working on. It was along the lines of things
that I teach. So I came to LMI to see his project
and to have lunch with him. That's where I
found that Susan Marquis was the Vice Presi-
dent of LMI. I knew her from the Pentagon from
my DAWMS days. So I added her to the list of
who I was going to snivel money off of and, to
make a long story short, through the LMI Re-
search Institute, they picked up the whole tab.
They gave us $19,000 to fund the edit.

It turns out that the other money will not go
to waste, that I got from the other places. It costs
$4,000 to have an index put in the book and then
we're going to have the editor go through the
book for a second look at it and itll cost us some
more. So I will spend all of the donations. But
still LMI gave us an order of magnitude more
than anyone else.

So I'm a pretty happy guy, right? A few
weeks later I got a call from Susan Marquis’ ad-
ministrative assistant at LMI saying, “Could
you meet Susan for lunch?” She explained
about the LMI Research Institute and how they
had just formed it. It was part of a branding ini-
tiative for the company, and they had put sev-
eral company functions under the institute.
They include a multi-million dollar research
and development (R&D) program. At that time
they were looking for an academic person to run
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it for a year at a time. A lot of the academic peo-
ple that had applied were really academics
without any management experience. The lead-
ership of LMI saw that there was a significant
management function to set up the research in-
stitute in the first year. When I showed up, albeit
to ask for a donation, they decided to ask me to
do it.

I come here two days a week and LMI reim-
burses GMU so that I could reduce my course
load. I have only taught the two military courses
that I normally teach this year, one a semester.

Here we manage the internal R&D pro-
gram. There’s a couple of million dollars that
LMI spends on internal R&D. They have this se-
quence of what they call the executive forum in
which they pick leaders from all over the gov-
ernment to sit down over breakfast. We sit
around and talk about important topics and
then we write up the results in the LMI Research
Institute journal called The Public Manager.

It’s been very interesting and I've learned
a lot about working in the corporate world,
which I never had done before. This is the first
place I've ever worked where they actually keep
track of your hours. At 3:30 in the afternoon, up
pops your time sheet on your computer. This is
a big surprise for me. It’s been fascinating and
I'll do that until the end of this summer.

Then I'll go back and just be a regular fac-
ulty member at GMU. I asked to be an advisory
director on the MORS Board, but it’s not quite
the same as being a voting director. So at least
MORS activities will be different at that point
and no more LM]I, so I can go back to being a reg-
ular faculty member again and see if I can’t get
some research done. That's it.

Bill Dunn: You mentioned that you play in
the orchestra. Can you tell us about your love
for the bassoon?

Andy Loerch: 1 was a bassoon player in ele-
mentary school through high school and never
had a private lesson. The guy said, “Here it is.
Here’s how you put it together. Here’s a finger-
ing chart. Knock yourself out.” I played it all the
way through high school. I got decent at it. Then
when I got to college I joined the band. But mu-
sic was not a big priority at Brooklyn Poly, and
the band was awful. So I said, “Forget it. I'm
out of here and call me if this ever gets good.”
They never did.

When my son started to take up music, I
started playing the clarinet with him. I used to
play the clarinet, too. Then I wondered how it
would be to play the bassoon again. So I rented
one and it was pretty tough and, ultimately, I
found a teacher off the list at a middle school
and she was gracious enough to work with an
adult. She talked me into buying an instrument
because when you rent bassoons they are often
not very good.

I joined the orchestra in Manassas. They
desperately needed a bassoonist right then be-
cause there aren’t many bassoon players around.
I became the principle bassoonist shortly after I
joined, and I've been doing that ever since. I
played in three orchestras this year and a quin-
tet and a lot of other groups. I actually get paid
to do some of the gigs. I also take lessons at
GMU. I take one credit of bassoon lessons every
semester. Because I am an employee, GMU pays
the tuition but they still make me pay a fee. It’s
my hobby.

Bill Dunn: Last but certainly not least is your
unabashed admiration for the Yankees.

Andy Loerch: 1 grew up in New York as I
mentioned. When I was a kid my father was
a Mets fan. Actually, he was originally a Dodgers
fan and he was from Queens. But there was
a time after the Dodgers and the Giants left
town, when I was about six, the Yankees were
the only thing going. Then the Mets started as
an expansion team but they stunk.

So I'm about 10 or 11 when the Mets show
up and I'm thinking, “Okay. I got the 1961-
1962 Yankees here—among the greatest teams
ever—and I got the Mets and they’re lousy;
the worst ever. So this is a no-brainer to me.”
Partly that and partly to be a pain in the neck,
I started rooting for the Yankees. I got really se-
rious about it in 1965 when I was 13—and I
would watch every single game—and they al-
ways televised the games in New York.

Of course the Yankees went south and
stayed south for a long time. In fact, they were
a pretty bad team until I graduated from college
and left. And they finally got good again for
a while. The fact of the matter is, though, that
when they were really bad in the late 1960s
and early 1970s, I was in there hanging tough.

I know there are a lot of Yankee fans out
there that jumped on the bandwagon since
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they’ve been so good over the last ten years, but I
was there when they were lousy, too. SoI deserve
tobe there and I've been a Yankee fan all my life. I
always include the fact that I am a Yankee fan
whenever I write a bio. I always include that be-
cause that’s an important thing to me.

A follow-up interview of Dr. Loerch was
initiated at the 79th MORSS, June 21, 2011 at
the Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA.

Bob Sheldon: You were recently selected for the
MORS Wanner Award. What are your thoughts
on that?

Andy Loerch: 1 was very surprised to even
be considered for that award. I looked at the list
of previous recipients and was pretty over-
whelmed to be considered among them. This is
especially true since I have been out of the gov-
ernment for more than 10 years, and this award
is largely given to government folks or leaders
of analysis agencies or FFRDCs (Federally
Funded Research and Development Centers),
with a few exceptions. It was very gratifying. I
have to say that being recognized right along
with Bob Sheldon, fellow Cornellian and my
MORS mentor made it even more special, along
with having my family at the Plenary. I have to
admit that I was concerned that the kids (ages
14,12, and 9) would get bored and be a problem,
but they really came through. Another thought
that crossed my mind was in regard to getting
what could be considered a lifetime achievement
award. My hope is that my lifetime is long from
over and that I can continue to contribute. It
makes you feel a little old. But I am older than
Roy Rice and he got the award several years ago.

Bob Sheldon: You were co-editor of the
MORS book Methods for Conducting Military Op-
erational Analysis. Talk briefly about the devel-
opment of that book and its reception by the
military OR community. Do you think it has
made any impact?

Andy Loerch: 1 have been told by people in
the MORS Office that the book continues to be
a big seller, and that it has outsold all the other
MORS books combined. The book has been
adopted by ALU (Army Logistics University)
in their ORSA MAC (Military Applications
Course) program, and of course, I use it in my
own class. I became involved in the project
when Larry Rainey, my co-editor, approached
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MORS about publishing a book of this nature.
I had two reasons for getting involved. The
first was the fact that I had no textbook for
my class. I swore that I would never use my
own book for a class that I taught since I had
had bad experiences as a student when I had
teachers that did that. But there really wasn’t
any other option out there. The second reason
was that it has become harder and harder to
do the research part of operations research.
Back whenIstarted in the OR business, a study
always involved a detailed report that in-
cluded a problem definition, literature review,
methodology, data, results, and conclusions;
and it was easy to find. You always did a DTIC
(Defense Technical Information Center) search
when you started on a new project to see what
was out there and what others had done. No
need to reinvent the wheel. Now, the output of
many study efforts is a Power Point presenta-
tion, and if you found one with notes you were
really lucky. So the purpose was to provide a ref-
erence with numerical examples of a set of im-
portant military OR problems at the service
department and national levels. I believe it has
served this purpose. Just the other day, someone
told me that they referred to it often, and even
carried it when they travel. That is significant
given the size of it. I even had a student tell
me that he got a used copy from Amazon for a
lower price. I guess you have really made it when
Amazon is selling used copies. As I might have
said in the past, there were 47 contributors—
all practicing analysts—that wrote the book.
My favorite part is Chapter 19 on Value Focused
Thinking, written by Greg Parnell. The book
was done as a service project, and no one got
paid a cent to do it. MORS pretty much sells it
for cost. I'm very proud of that. It has been a
few years now since the book was first sold.
Clearly updates and changes are needed. We will
do that eventually. I was very fortunate to re-
ceive a large grant from the LMI Research In-
stitute, plus some smaller ones from other
companies. This paid for a literary edit so that
it reads like one author wrote it. I had enough so
that I could provide a free copy of the book to
each author as well. One of the impediments to
doing a revision is that it may be difficult to ob-
tain funding. That is something that would have
to be worked out with the MORS leadership.
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Bob Sheldon: How has the military OR cur-
riculum at GMU progressed over the years?
Andy Loerch: The structure of the military
OR courses that we offer is largely the same,
but some of the content has changed over the
years. The Effectiveness course (the one that
uses the book described above as its text) has
been updated several times. I now include a
block on attacker-defender networks which is
taught at the Naval Postgraduate School and
is the result of their research. I also introduced
some of the work we did in support of the Joint
Improvised Explosive Device Defeat Organi-
zation (JIEDDO) as the type of analysis that is
done to support military decision making in op-
erations like Iraq and Afghanistan. I have some
new case studies that are assigned and I try to
bring in new ones as I identify them. These tend
to be very unstructured problems with dirty
data and a very vague problem statement. Most
of the students enjoy working on these, and my
purpose is to give them experience in working
more realistic problems, similar to the kind they
might encounter when they are working ana-
lysts. The combat modeling class and the cost
analysis class are pretty static with respect to
content, but they are relevant and well received.
Bill Dunn: Do you think there is an adequate
supply of young analysts in the pipeline??
Andy Loerch: When we first started offering
this set of courses, my experience was that the
students were more experienced in the field.
So in some cases, the class was more like a sem-
inar than pure instruction. Now, however, I am
definitely getting younger and less experienced
students. I believe that the number of people
that were trained to be OR analysts while in
the military has been greatly decreased, so con-
tractors and government agencies are hiring

smart young folks with technical degrees and
then sending them to school. The discussion in
the class tends to be more basic in nature. So,
in my experience, the flow of young people into
the field is pretty robust.  have also had a pretty
steady stream of officers in our program for
both Masters and PhD. We have officers from
the Army, Coast Guard, Navy, and every once
in a while, someone from the Air Force. We cur-
rently have a Marine officer who is a graduate of
the Naval Postgraduate School and who is
working on his PhD part-time. We try to be ac-
commodating with such students, and he was
able to take his qualifying exams in theater. I
find it particularly rewarding to work with the
military students.

Bill Dunn: Do you think the downturn in the
economy and reduced federal funding have im-
pacted the OR profession?

Andy Loerch: 1 don’t think that the down-
turn in the economy is as big an issue as the bud-
get crisis in the federal government. The long
period that the government functioned under
a continuing resolution affected hiring of stu-
dents, both in the Federal government itself,
and in the contracting community. It also af-
fected research funding. I have been at George
Mason University since I retired in 2000, and
this is the first time that I have seen students
struggle to get jobs. It certainly helps if they
have a security clearance when they apply
for a job. There also seems to be a reduction
in the availability of internship programs as
well. None of this bodes well for the OR pro-
fession in the short term, but I believe that it
is just a down part of the cycle, and it will re-
cover eventually. | haven’t seen any downturn
in the need for analysis, and that bodes well
for the future.
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